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I tenei tau, kua hangahia e tatou i te whare rangahau hou hei whakaruruhau mo nga matauranga e pa ana ki nga
mahi ahumara-a-whenua, a-moana hoki. Kua karapinepine mai nei nga tangata matatau kia puta mai nga huahua
mahamaha hei whakawhiriwhiri, hei tuku atu ki nga tangata katoa me nga whakatupuranga o apopo.
– Nau te rourou, naku te rourou. Ka ora te iwi.

This year we have built a new Institute dedicated to research that builds knowledge for the horticulture,
arable and seafood industries. We are proud to have brought together a team of highly capable and
dedicated people who understand the potential for science to help build a better future for New
Zealanders. Here we share some of our inspiration and goals with you. We have set ourselves high
standards and know our industries expect nothing less than excellence. We welcome the challenge.

– With your food basket and my food basket the people will be sustained.
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Strategic Direction

Highlights
This year saw the successful formation of our new institute from the wealth of

Plant & Food Research has been formed with a clear, united
purpose: to generate knowledge and intellectual property
that promotes the innovative, efficient and sustainable use
of primary plant and seafood-based resources to create
value for New Zealand.
Plant & Food Research is a new Crown Research Institute,
formed on December 1st 2008 through the merger of
HortResearch and Crop & Food Research.
The Institute brings together more than 900 research and
support staff from around New Zealand, combining the
nation’s leading horticulture, arable and seafood research in
a single, focused organisation.
Plant & Food Research will focus its capability on enabling
New Zealand industry to produce more and better food
from less land, with reduced environmental impacts and
fewer chemical, carbon and water inputs. These primarily
production-oriented activities will be complemented
by innovation that allows New Zealand growers, food
manufacturers and exporters to produce and successfully
market fresh and processed foods. These will meet
consumer needs according to well-defined global food
trends – health, sustainability, convenience, novelty and
sensory appeal.
This strategic framework focuses Plant & Food Research’s
unique combination of research and commercial
capabilities around four outcome-based platforms.
Elite genetics and new cultivars
– Better cultivars faster
Plant & Food Research has bred a number of New
Zealand’s most lucrative fruit and vegetable exports and
we have extensive breeding programmes underway to
find the next generation of blockbuster varieties. We are
now building deeper linkages between those breeding
programmes and important underpinning knowledge in
the field of plant molecular biology. These linkages will
enable our researchers to identify and enhance traits of
interest in our breeding populations and to accelerate
the development of new cultivars that further strengthen
New Zealand’s reputation for producing high quality,
differentiated fruits, vegetables and plant-based food
ingredients.
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Bioprotected production systems
– Biosecurity, biodiversity, market access
Pests and diseases, both new and established, present a
significant challenge for New Zealand’s primary exports.
Effective pest and disease control is essential to retain
product quality and to ensure continued market access. New
Zealand’s premium global consumers expect this control
to be achieved with ever-decreasing levels of environmental
impact. Plant & Food Research’s bioprotection programmes
will utilise in-depth knowledge of the ecological interactions
between plants, insects and disease to develop low impact
monitoring, control and mitigation measures that protect
our environment by reducing or eliminating the need for
agrichemical interventions.
Sustainable production systems
– Quality, efficiency and eco-verification
New Zealand is a niche exporter of high value foods to
markets which rank among the world’s most discerning
in their sensitivity to issues of quality and sustainability.
Plant & Food Research will work to underwrite the ongoing
value of New Zealand’s clean, green producer branding
by conducting world-class science that enables industry
to meet or exceed consumer demand for product and
production integrity. We are coupling an understanding of
production economics with knowledge of complex systems
biology, social research and environmental science to
build systems, tools and technologies that drive sustainable
advantage for New Zealand.
Food Innovation
– Discovering and delivering premium natural foods
Inspired by the high quality foods grown by New Zealand’s
primary producers, Plant & Food Research will work with
industry to help meet identified consumer demand for natural
premium foods and beverages. Our science teams identify
the intrinsic benefits found within plant and marine-based
foods. We then enhance, extract and deliver these benefits to
consumers through elite plant cultivars, functional ingredients
and new enhanced foods and beverages. Our ongoing food
innovation research confirms the established ‘health halo’
that surrounds fruit, vegetables, grains and seafoods. We will
match that science with vision and commercial flair that helps
industry create exciting, premium foods that offer consumers
a natural way to feel good.

combined knowledge, passion and commitment found in our legacy organisations.
our merger makes us stronger and more capable of performing the science needed
to ensure sustainable growth in new zealand’s plant and marine-based food
industries. Our success this year has included a number of important Highlights:

→→ Achieving the financial target proposed in the merger business
case. The underlying profitability of our operations is healthy,
giving us confidence that we can achieve the challenging
targets we have set in our three year business plan.

→→ Launching AmaizeN, a new crop management tool for maize
grain and silage production that helps growers maximise
return from fertiliser inputs as well as meet regulatory
requirements.

→→ Delivering new research for the wine, kiwifruit and pipfruit
industries to help them better understand their carbon
footprint. Researchers from our Sustainability group, working
in partnership with Manaaki Whenua Landcare Research, have
also identified effective carbon reduction options for these
industries.

→→ Turners & Growers began the worldwide commercialisation of
the ENVY™ brand apple, bred by Plant & Food Research. This
blockbuster new cultivar is expected to perform at the same
high level as the JAZZ™ apple, itself a product of our pipfruit
breeding programme.

→→ Publishing important findings from our ongoing research into
the genetics of apple and kiwifruit. Our Breeding and Genomics
group contributed to a new book on the genomics of the
Rosaceae family and published a number of papers detailing
specific findings of value in kiwifruit including gene discoveries
in the areas of health, colour and sex determination.
→→ A pilot gene association study identified a region of the human
chromosome important in recognising the “grassy” flavour in
kiwifruit. Further research is now being conducted by our Food
Innovation group under a new FRST-funded programme called
Gastronomics - the study of the genetic basis for perceptions of
flavour in food.
→→ Demonstrating the viability of a new pest insect control
technique known as Mobile Mating Disruption. Researchers
from our Bioprotection group showed that mass releases
of sterile fruit flies treated with Light Brown Apple Moth
pheromone could greatly reduce populations of the moth in
affected areas.
→→ Working alongside Horticulture New Zealand to support
development of an industry-wide strategy that will grow
revenues from horticulture to $10 billion by 2020. Our own
strategy is strongly aligned to this goal.
→→ Licensing intellectual property in the area of controlled gas
release to Balchem Corporation Inc for the manufacture and
marketing of horticultural products.

→→ Launching the Land Management Index, a decision-support
tool to help farmers predict the consequences of management
decisions on soil quality and future productivity. The tool’s
development has been in response to the rapid intensification
of farming occurring in the arable, vegetable and pastoral
sectors throughout New Zealand.
→→ The sale of an equity stake in our subsidiary company,
GraceLinc, to multinational speciality food ingredient company
Danisco. GraceLinc markets the naturally-extracted barley
beta-glucan, Glucagel™. The sale begins a partnership
aimed to make Glucagel™ a category-leading functional food
ingredient.
→→ Renewing the The Trans-Tasman Vital Vegetables®
partnership agreement. Over the next five years partners
will be able to access $22.5 million for activities that
include development and commercialisation of high health
vegetables for domestic and world markets.
→→ Achieving ‘Excellent’ scores for the Nutrigenomics and
Lifestyle Foods programmes in a FRST-commissioned Food
Domain Review. The Review’s Export Panel noted that both
research programmes ‘exceed expected performance’.
→→ Formally passing four advanced selections from our kiwifruit
breeding programme to partner ZESPRI® for large scale precommercial trials. Bred for attributes including early harvest,
outstanding taste, long storage and attractive appearance,
these new kiwifruit offer traits that will excite consumers and
capture industry-identified market opportunities.
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Chairman’s Commentary

CEO’s Review

The formation of Plant & Food Research marks a new era
in the delivery of research for New Zealand’s plant and
food industries. Our nation’s leading horticulture, arable
and seafood researchers have come together in a single
organisation, structured and entrusted to deliver science in
pursuit of sustainable sector growth.

In all cases we will integrate science across production,
manufacturing, distribution and marketing platforms,
combining market insight with a deep and fundamental
understanding of the biological potential of our food
resource base and the systems that ensure its value is
captured sustainably.

There could be no better time for our merger. Primary
production remains at the heart of New Zealand’s
economic wellbeing. More than ever before we need
knowledge, innovation and foresight to drive ongoing
competitive advantage. A very real sense of opportunity is
emerging as global food and environmental imperatives
shift into greater alignment with New Zealand’s established
commitment to sustainably produced, high value premium
products. Furthermore, consumers are demanding greater
wellness benefits from foods - increasing the potential value
of the established ‘health halo’ that already surrounds much
of New Zealand’s natural produce.

Success in this will ensure lower costs across the
supply chain, greater efficiencies in resource allocation,
innovation in food design and the ability to produce
foods that grow our share of existing markets while also
successfully opening new opportunities in growth areas.

Plant & Food Research has made a determined and
public commitment to bring out the best from our
foundation institutes and to accelerate the delivery and
commercialisation of research. Achieving a merger
capable of fulfilling this promise has been the dominant
organisational focus of the past year. This has meant
taking a refreshed perspective on our operational structure
and enacting broad organisational transformation. Our
mission to provide research for the benefit of the New
Zealand plant and marine-based food industries has been
a constant point of reference during these changes.

In combining the complementary capabilities of HortResearch
and Crop & Food Research we have created an organisation
with the critical mass required to support pursuit of these
opportunities. We have drawn from both legacy organisations
to create a new Institute that recognises that value is only truly
created when research capability intersects with the identified
needs of industry, the market and society.
As a single, integrated source of research for horticulture
and marine-based foods we have greater scale and stronger
focus in both our science and our partnerships. By linking
with investment agencies, other research organisations
and private sector partners we will develop and deliver
research that allows industry to grow export earnings faster
and more efficiently than via two separate organisations.
The increased scale of the merged organisation will also
enable the Institute to successfully and more quickly tackle
emerging issues for New Zealand.
An external focus on high potential, high impact industry
sectors will be matched by internal commitment to
productivity, customer satisfaction and profitability in our
core research services. Science programmes will be structured
to optimise opportunities to secure proprietary IP for the
benefit of New Zealand. Commercialisation of IP, including
patents and Plant Variety Rights, will be via licensing and
other profit share arrangements as well as selective
investments with industry partners that develop business
opportunities to investor-ready or market-ready stage.
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A note of thanks
The formation of Plant & Food Research owes much to
the vision demonstrated by the Board members of our
foundation institutes. While the potential to harness the
capabilities of HortResearch and Crop & Food Research
in a single organisation was widely recognised across both
institutes and industry, it took foresight and courage to
truly determine the long term value of a merger for New
Zealand and to formally recommend a union.
The two boards contained many talented individuals and
we were fortunate to form the inaugural Plant & Food
Research Board from this group. Inevitably, not all could
join the new Institute. I’d like to thank all of our departing
Board members for their service to their respective
organisations and for their contribution to the core set of
principles and goals on which Plant & Food Research has
been established.
It is also important to recognise the outstanding
contribution of Plant & Food Research’s new Chief
Executive Peter Landon-Lane and his Senior Management
Team. It has been a challenging year for this group and
they have done a great job to implement the merger
while ensuring continued delivery of science outputs and
financial performance objectives.

Jim McLean

ChAirman

In science, we have reviewed and assessed the combined
capability of the Institute to deliver research in support
of industry goals such as the horticulture industry’s goal
to generate value in excess of $10 billion by 2020. Four
strong areas of capability were determined: Elite Cultivar
Development, Bioprotection, Sustainable Production
Systems and Food Innovation. These fields are now the
focus for original, high quality research based on open and
constructive relationships between science teams working
in a range of disciplines, regions and crops.
A merged organisation has provided the opportunity for our
scientists to better capitalise on existing infrastructure and
assets, extracting far greater utility and value from them.
This has already led to a satisfying increase in the pace of
research through effective sharing of resources. In addition,
our increased scale opens options for deeper linkages
with other major stakeholders in New Zealand as well as
the critical mass required to expand our engagement with
large-scale international partners.
A refocus of science targets has also involved close attention
to ensuring science outputs accurately reflect investment.
At a time of global financial concern it is essential that
New Zealand retains its competitive edge by continuing
to innovate and add value, however it is also vital that our
research directions are economically sustainable for both
industry and Plant & Food Research. We are mindful that
improved operating profitability will allow Plant & Food
Research to increase internal investment in line with science
progress and commercial opportunities. This investment will
ensure our science teams have ongoing access to the best
technology and will cement our ability to capture and retain
world-class talent for current and future research.
For our customers, engaging with Plant & Food Research now
provides access to even better multi-disciplinary science teams,
enabling speedier, more efficient resolution of industry issues.

“Nau te rourou, naku te rourou.
Ka ora te iwi”

Our merger was always intended to deliver more than just
“business as usual with some productivity gains”. A refocus
on targets, vertical integration, export industries and an
enhanced value proposition to existing and new customers
remains a key driver. The result is an organisation ready
and well-prepared for the challenges ahead.
Looking further out we now have the ability to provide deeper
‘future foresight’ than was available from two separate
organisations. There is a much enhanced opportunity for
science to contribute more effectively to industry strategies and
imperatives. This includes increased ability to aid customers
with their global ‘behind borders’ strategies and to more
rapidly deliver products with added value differentiators.
Recognition for the team
The merger provided some significant tests and involved
a lot of hard work. I have been delighted at the way our
staff have risen to the challenge. I’d like to thank everyone
at Plant & Food Research for their engagement and
support during the merger process and for their ongoing
commitment to the success of our new Institute.
In particular, I need to thank the Senior Management Team
and the wider leadership group in our science, commercial,
finance, administration, human resources and support
areas. They have helped steer our course through an intense
period of change and have done so with professionalism
and commitment. From within this group special mention
must go to the smaller team of Merger Steering Committee
members and to the Merger Stream Leaders who shouldered
the lion’s share of plain hard work needed to successfully
integrate the systems, policies and infrastructures of our
foundation institutes. I take great pride in being part of such a
determined and capable team.
There is a traditional Maori saying which I believe illustrates
the motivation behind our merger, “Nau te rourou, naku te
rourou. Ka ora te iwi” - With your food basket and my food
basket the people will be sustained.
We have worked hard and brought together a great team. I’m
confident that together we can deliver science that ensures a
successful, sustainable future for New Zealand.

Peter Landon-Lane
Chief Executive Officer
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Chairman & CEO’s Report
On 1 December 2008 Crop & Food Research and
HortResearch merged to form The New Zealand Institute
for Plant & Food Research Limited. The combined
organisation has more than 900 staff based at sites across
New Zealand as well as in the USA and Australia.
Plant & Food Research’s foundation Board was established
with Board members from both HortResearch and
Crop & Food Research. The new Board has overseen the
post-merger integration period, which has involved the
consolidation and optimisation of resources and capability.
The critical elements of the integration plan, including
organisational change, financial and payroll system
integrations, have been successfully completed on time
and within forecast costs. Non-critical system integration
and enhancement projects will continue to roll out up to
December 2009.
notes on results comparisons
The financial statements and notes for the year ended
30 June 2009 presented in this Annual Report on pages
26 to 53 represent 7 months of trading from Plant &
Food Research and 5 months trading from Crop & Food
Research. Prior year comparatives represent 12 months
of trading for Crop & Food Research only, being the legal
entity that existed before the merger and name change to
Plant & Food Research. The financials presented in the
Annual Report are as required by the Public Finance Act.
In order to more readily compare the results of the
merged organisation with merger proposal targets and
prior year results, the financials presented on the right
summarise the results for Plant & Food Research as if
the merger had occurred on 1 July 2007. In other words,
a comparison of 12 months of trading for Plant & Food
Research for 2009 and 2008.

Results overview
Plant & Food Research achieved an excellent full year
result, exceeding the merger proposal financial target by
$3.4 million before one-off costs related to the merger and
associated impairments and policy changes.
Despite considerable efforts focused on the merger, the
organisation was able to control variable and discretionary
costs to ensure that even after higher one-off costs the
merger business case was achieved.

2009

2008

Merger Proposal

Actual

$000

$000

$000

Operating revenue

119,570

117,901

112,614

Operating costs

110,504

117,281

118,988

(Gain) / loss on sale assets

(32)

-

232

Restructuring costs are merger related expenses, the
majority of which are severance payments to corporate
and support staff. The merger proposal assumed a lower
number of redundancies and a lower average severance
payment per employee than was actually incurred.

Net interest

155

161

(332)

Impairment of investments

Following the merger, a review of the legacy accounting
and treasury policies of HortResearch and Crop & Food
Research was undertaken. The alignment of accounting
policies resulted in library assets of $1.8 million being
written off during the year.

Impairment of assets

Plant & Food Research continues to focus on delivering
the business synergies expected from the merger. Current
assets are higher than the merger proposal due to high net
cash levels resulting from better underlying operating profit
performance and lower capital spend.

(33)

-

(8)

Operating profit / (loss) before one-off expenses

2,199

(1,248)

2,218

Restructuring costs

3,770

2,600

-

115

-

-

233

-

-

Library asset write-off

1,813

-

-

Operating profit/(loss) before taxation

(3,732)

(3,848)

2,218

(207)

(272)

-

Operating loss attributable to Parent before tax

(3,525)

(3,576)

2,218

Current assets

30,137

21,497

33,379

Non-current assets

73,299

86,282

74,899

Current liabilities are higher than the merger proposal due
mainly to higher revenue in advance accruals at year end.

Current liabilities

28,613

23,391

23,019

1,590

8,447

7,597

Non-current liabilities are lower than both the merger proposal
and prior year due to the former Crop & Food Research
loan of $6 million being repaid following the merger.

Net Assets

73,233

75,941

77,662

Share of retained (profit) of associate

Cash flows from operating

13,483

6,317

8,787

Cash flows from investing

(8,765)

(17,639)

(8,879)

Cash flows from financing

(6,901)

99

1,263

Net Cash Flow

(2,183)

(11,223)

1,171

Operating loss attributable to minority interest

Group Balance Sheet

Non-current liabilities

Group Cash Flow

The merger proposal comparative represents the merger
business case approved by the shareholder on 13 August 2008.
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Results of Group
Operations

2009
Actual

Jim McLean

Peter Landon-Lane

ChAirman

Chief Executive Officer
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Capability Fund
Plant & Food Research received $8.6M in capability
funding for the 08/09 year. This is the combined total
from HortResearch ($4.6M) and Crop & Food Research
($4.0M). There was a strong commonality in strategic
direction and focus on investment in the two previous
organisations and consequently this report focuses on
the combined investment.
The Capability Fund is the major part of internal investment
for Plant & Food Research, the other allocations being:
→→ Re-investment of kiwifruit royalties as determined by
our operating agreement with ZESPRI®, and focusing
on the pipeline for developing new cultivars
→→ Internal investment covering other areas of cultivar
development and research.

Breeding & genomics
New cultivar development from smart
breeding of elite germplasm

$2.6M

→→ Maintaining capability that underpins New Zealand’s
economic, environmental and social research needs
→→ Developing new capability for New Zealand research
areas in the future
→→ Ensuring that research pipelines of value to industry
and Plant & Food Research’s strategic aims are filled
→→ Supporting other research programmes to ensure
critical mass and resource is maintained.

Future capability development
Capability funding has an important role in ensuring
that we can develop new capability in areas that will be
of growing importance in the years ahead, both in terms
of New Zealand’s needs and Plant & Food Research’s
industry-aligned strategy.
Such new capabilities include:
→→ Landscape ecology: evaluating the interaction between
production and environmental imperatives in land use
decision making

We invest across four major strategy areas which are
aligned to industry sector strategy and Government policy
and initiatives.

→→ Whole genome sequencing: developing capability in
sequencing and associated bioinformatics for whole
genome and deep sequencing programmes of our
major food crops

Bioprotection

Sustainable production

Production systems that target zero chemical
usage, bioprotected food production and
biodiversity

$2.2M

Environmentally and economically sustainable
production systems for food crops

→→ New food functionalities: providing the capability to
identify and characterise new functionalities of fruit and
vegetables for future new food products
→→ Production footprints: strengthening and integrating
capability in modelling and assessing environmental
footprints in our major crop production systems
→→ Market access: expansion of capability for developing
new and clean technologies for disinfestation of export
products to maintain market access.
Plant & Food Research is developing a Futurewatch
programme which will help us in identifying future trends
in science and technology. This will inform our decision
making for future capability fund investment, along with
discussion with industry and Government partners.

Food innovation
$1.7M

Foods with new functionalities, particularly
in the human health domain

$2.1M

Major target:

Major target:

Major target:

Major target:

Faster cultivar production and commercialisation

Bioprotection systems with minimal chemical input

Production systems with reduced production footprints,
underpinned by systems modelling-based technology

New foods and ingredients with health-based functionalities

Investment underpinned:

Investment underpinned:

Germplasm maintenance

Pest and disease resistance

Breeding programmes
Genomic technologies
Bioinformatics and data analysis
Potato genome sequencing initiative

Examples of successful investment:
Plant & Food Research strengthened its portfolio of elite germplasm
for commercialisation with strategic partners in global markets.
Accessions of a number of crops were boosted, including yacon,
konjac, oats, onion, barley and brassicas. Significant advances were
made in incorporating a gene mapping approach to hop breeding.
The international programme on whole genome sequencing of
potato is close to reaching publication stage and will represent a
significant achievement for international collaboration. The sequence
information will have a marked impact on our ability to develop
markers for enhanced potato breeding.
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Plant & Food Research uses Capability
Funding for:

Production systems that target zero chemical usage
Bioprotected food production
Biodiversity

Examples of successful investment:
Investment in research to identify new semiochemicals from nature
and explore opportunities to design and synthesise new molecules
for commercialisation as insect pest management tools has resulted
in patents being accepted for thrips attractants in New Zealand and
the USA. The efficacy of thrips lures has also been demonstrated in
a range of other countries and discussions on collaborative research
projects have been held with researchers in the Netherlands, Japan
and Spain. Capability funding has contributed to increasing our
capability in statistical analysis through supporting the PhD studies
of Dr Ruth Butler. Dr Butler is the first graduate from Reading
University, UK, with the Doctor of Statistics qualification (DStat).
Her thesis was on the development of methods for analysing thrips
trapping data and guidelines for sub-sampling protocols. This
new biometrics capability will be applicable across Plant & Food
Research’s four platforms.

Investment underpinned:
Sustainable production systems
Production footprints
Modelling crop plant growth and production

Examples of successful investment:
A species prioritisation model has been developed based on
pre-selected criteria for suitability as indicators of biodiversity.
The outcome is a list of prioritised species that can be used to
increase biodiversity in kiwifruit orchards. Extensive consultations
have taken place with industry on how to quantify sustainability
of horticulture with respect to its environmental footprint. This is
leading to development of new approaches and tools. In the seafood
area, our research is heavily focused on postharvest quality of fish
species. Funding has allowed for substantial advances to be made in
understanding biology of fish such as hoki, with the target of turning
this commodity species into a high value export product.

Investment underpinned:
Foods with new functionalities
Gut activity and well-being
Food information management systems
New biomolecules, including new and natural products

Examples of successful investment:
Our capability and profile in gut health research was strengthened
as a result of investment in dietary fibre research and in new
collaborations across Plant & Food Research’s breeding, genomics
and food research activities. Science collaborations have also been
built with researchers at the world renowned Institute of Food
Research (IFR) as well as with the Functional Food Centre at Oxford
Brookes, both in the UK, which will ensure we keep up to date with
international science as well as create opportunities to access
new EU-based funding. Significant progress has been made in
establishing capability in food bioavailability, involving understanding
what compounds end up in the body after consumption of particular
phytochemicals. New bioavailability assay systems have been
established and the work has led to a new proposal for FRST
funding in food bioavailability.
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Programme Targets:

Our Science

Breeding & Genomics

1

New markers, genomics and breeding tools to get cultivars to market quicker

2

Design and development of cultivars in response to international consumer drivers

3

Cultivars and propagation systems developed for better adaptation to climatic change

4

All new cultivars resistant to key pests and diseases

Our science combines traditional breeding with modern
genomics approaches to develop better cultivars, faster.
New Zealand is known worldwide for innovation in plant
breeding. Products such the JAZZ™ brand apple and
ZESPRI® GOLD Kiwifruit have cemented our reputation
for developing new and novel fruits and vegetables that
deliver a premium consumer experience.

Science teams with complementary skills in molecular
biology, gene mapping, bioinformatics and genomics can
speed up the time it takes to develop new cultivars through
identification and study of the genes that control target
traits.

A focus on thinking well-ahead of competitors has helped
New Zealand secure lucrative markets worldwide. However
competition looms and rival producers are seeking to
match our product offering. To stay ahead, New Zealand
must continue to exceed established demands for quality,
taste and visual appeal and also innovate to meet new calls
from consumers and industry. These include demands
for novelty, convenience and wellness benefits as well as
for traits such as pest and disease resistance, postharvest
storage, drought resistance and market-orientated
seasonality.

Our researchers work with plant gene sequences and
molecular markers, including whole genome maps
accessed through our involvement in international
genome sequencing consortia. Using these they can
inform breeding decisions and in many cases accelerate
the breeding process. This is achieved by giving breeders a
fast and accurate insight into the many genetic variations
available in parent populations and those new variations
arising through the mass crossing of different plant
varieties. Genetic screening allows breeders to begin with
parent plants that offer the best chance of producing
offspring with desired traits.

Plant & Food Research has extensive germplasm collections
containing thousands of different varieties from key
crops. These plants represent a unique natural genetic
resource which can be used in our breeding programmes.
Researchers in our Breeding and Genomics group identify
plants within these collections that hold the genetic ability
to confer novel phenotypic characteristics, such as new
fruit colours, shapes, higher yield etc. These are then
crossed with successful commercial cultivars in pursuit of
varieties which combine new characteristics with essential
established traits.
Understanding the genetic blueprint of traits of interest
is an essential step in seeking the best plants to cross.
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Once crossed, any one of the many thousands of new
seedlings produced each year could inherit the target
genes and therefore the genetic potential to carry on as
a parent in further breeding or to succeed commercially
in its own right. Rather than grow each to maturity for
assessment, a process that can take several years, further
genetic screening can help pick the most promising plants
at seedling stage. These then enter our farm research
network, which comprises more than 300 hectares of
orchard and farmland spread across New Zealand’s major
growing regions. Here each is further assessed before
potentially passing into larger scale grower trials.

A potato with consumer
appeal

Sex determination in
kiwifruit

Filling the gap in
summerfruit supply

In the 2008/9 season, Plant & Food
Research released four new potato cultivars
for evaluation. One of these was the product
of a breeding programme specifically
seeking to develop a potato with high colour.
The striking Purple Heart potato, which
has both purple skin and purple-specked
flesh, was developed to meet the increasing
consumer demand for more colourful
vegetables with added health benefits.

Kiwifruit are dioecious, meaning male
and female flowers are usually borne on
separate vines. For fruit to develop on
the female vines, pollen from the male
flowers needs to be transferred to the
female, usually by bee. To optimise the
use of their planting area and maximise
the yield, kiwifruit growers need to be able
to distinguish male from female plants
and position them accordingly to ensure
maximum pollination.

In March and April each year, consumers
in Europe and Australia find it hard to get
fresh apricots. Existing cultivars mature
early in the season and the fruit does not
store well for long, creating a gap in the
market for high quality fruit. Plant & Food
Research has received support from the
Foundation for Research, Science and
Technology to develop new, late-maturing
cultivars specifically for the Northern
Hemisphere market.

This year, our scientists have published
important research which will help identify
the sex of kiwifruit plants. By studying
inheritance patterns and mapping areas
of the kiwifruit genome, Plant & Food
Research scientists have identified the
region on its 29 pairs of chromosomes
which appears to be responsible for flower
sex development. Using this information,
kiwifruit seedlings can be screened at an
early stage to determine sex and allow
growers to organise their plantings to
maximise production.

Plant & Food Research scientists are
extending their existing partnership with the
summerfruit industry to take full advantage
of New Zealand’s relatively late harvest
season compared to its competitors. Using
our knowledge of summerfruit breeding, the
research will develop new apricot cultivars
with unique taste characteristics which
harvest late and store longer. Understanding
the genes responsible for storage traits will
enable the breeding team to screen for these
traits at an early stage while postharvest
trials will investigate the best temperature
to optimise fruit storage. The new cultivars
will provide the industry with the opportunity
to capture significant premiums in the high
value European market.

Colour is an important buying signal
for consumers when choosing fruit and
vegetables. The added benefit of the high
purple colouring in Purple Heart is the
accumulation of the colour compound
anthocyanin, a strong antioxidant known to
have a beneficial effect on human health.
The potato has performed well in trials,
with commercial growers impressed with
its potential. Stocks of seed potatoes are
now being built and consumers can expect
to see this high health, colourful potato
become available over the next few years.
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Programme Targets:

Our Science

Bioprotection

1

Advanced technologies to eliminate the impact of new incursions pre and post border

2

Targeted pest and disease control technologies, tools and systems that use negligible chemicals

3

Understanding impacts of new pests and pest control technologies

Our research develops sustainable pest and disease
management technologies and systems based on a combined
understanding of biological interactions within productive
ecosystems and industry imperatives.
The safety, security and sustainability of New Zealand’s
horticultural and agricultural economy rely on innovative
technologies and practices that safeguard food and forage
crops from pests and disease.
To maintain access to international markets, invasive pests
must be prevented from crossing our borders and existing
pests and diseases must be controlled using minimal
chemical inputs. This is crucial in successfully protecting
New Zealand’s own ecosystem as well as meeting
requirements around the phytosanitary and residue-free
status of our export products.
Plant & Food Research develops systems, tools and
technologies to sustainably protect the horticultural
industry from pests and diseases while maintaining quality
and productivity. This includes research to support sciencebased risk assessments for country-to-country market
access negotiations and to ensure New Zealand exports do
not vector pests or diseases to our trading markets.
The Bioprotection group uses expertise in biosecurity,
plant pathology, molecular biology, entomology and
disinfestation to develop new methods of monitoring,
controlling and eliminating pests and disease while
reducing risks associated with pesticide use. We design risk
assessment, decision-making and diagnostic tools for use
by industry and related government agencies. By bringing
together knowledge from a range of scientific disciplines
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we develop integrated and sustainable systems which move
away from chemical controls to manage pests and disease
with low environmental and social impact.
Integrated Pest and Disease Management systems for
fruit and vegetable crops are a key focus. These systems
seek to manage the ecological interactions between plants,
insects and disease. They give priority to monitoring
and targeted interventions while encouraging the use of
novel control technologies as alternatives to conventional
chemical options.
The design of integrated production systems requires
comprehensive knowledge of the biology and ecology of
target insects and pathogens and their natural enemies
or competitors. Increasingly, such systems also rely
on sophisticated monitoring techniques coupled with
computer-based modelling to predict risk periods and
inform crop management decisions. These same systems
play a major role in biosecurity activities, providing
insight into the potential impact of new pest incursions
as well as tools for detecting, monitoring and managing
invasive pests.
Our bioprotection expertise also helps inform breeding
decisions and supports the development of new cultivars
with increased natural resistance to pests and disease. The
value of new cultivars is further increased by the availability
of bioprotection systems tailored to suit their specific needs.

Managing the varroa threat

Chemical free insect control

Controlling the Potato/
tomato psyllid

Varroa destructor is a small parasitic
mite which infects honey bees and can
transfer fatal viral pathogens. Since its
introduction to New Zealand in 2000 varroa
has devastated bee populations, the main
vehicle for crop pollination. Our scientists
are looking at new methods of managing
the varroa threat, including breeding bees
with natural resistance and alternative
control methods.

Moths are a major agricultural pest in many
countries. This year, Plant & Food Research
has successfully demonstrated a new
method of controlling one particular moth
pest, the Light Brown Apple Moth.

In a new three year project funded by the
horticulture industry and major commercial
vegetable processing companies, Plant &
Food Research scientists are developing
better ways of managing the potato/tomato
psyllid, an insect pest that has recently
arrived in New Zealand which attacks
tomato, potato, tamarillos and capsicums.

A new programme is conducting research
on the chelifer, a small arachnid found
naturally in bee hives and a predator of
the varroa mite, which may have potential
as a biocontrol agent. The research is
investigating the efficacy of chelifers in
controlling varroa and reducing effects of
infestation, as well as options and methods
of commercial rearing. The introduction
of a viable biocontrol agent would assist
growers in controlling varroa infestation,
particularly for the organics industry where
chemical methods are forbidden and other
options are complex and inefficient.

Working with the Western Australia
Department of Agriculture and Food, our
scientists used pheromones to trick the
moth into wasting energy unsuccessfully
mating with another species. The technique,
known as mobile mating disruption, involves
spraying sterile fruit flies (which are already
released into the environment to control
the fruit fly population) with Light Brown
Apple Moth pheromones. The moths sense
the pheromones and try to mate with the
fruit flies, wasting time and energy and
eventually leading to a reduction in the
moth population.
While research is ongoing, there is potential
for the technique to be adapted to other
geographic areas, such as California,
where Light Brown Apple Moth is a growing
concern, or to control other pest species.

First found in New Zealand in 2006, this
psyllid is spreading throughout the country
and causing problems for commercial and
home gardeners. The insect can transmit
a bacterium, Liberibacter, which can
drastically reduce the quality and yield of
infected crops.
Plant & Food Research scientists are
developing methods of dealing with the
pest, including an effective insecticide
programme and a system for determining
the health status of plants. This will ensure
the industry is supplied with diseasefree material and allow growers to make
decisions on how best to manage their crop
if symptoms are seen.
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Programme Targets:

Our Science

Sustainable Production

1

A complete set of measures and models for eco-verified production systems

2

Cost-efficient production systems which deliver high profitability

3

Closed production systems with inputs optimised to maximise efficiency and minimise the environmental footprint

4

Understanding impacts of new technologies

By working with us, producers can quantify the
sustainability of their food production systems and capture
market premiums for eco-verified food products.
New Zealand’s horticultural, arable and seafood industries
are highly sensitive to issues of quality, food safety and
environmental responsibility. Our food exports are expected
to deliver a superior consumer experience that matches
their premium price and to reflect a commitment to broad
issues of environmental concern. New Zealand’s clean,
green branding highlights this situation by promising
integrity in areas such as carbon footprints, biodiversity,
soil and water ecology and social impacts.
Producers here must balance these expectations with
their own imperatives. Many of these imperatives reflect
consumer sentiment around the environment while
others are linked to the reality of maintaining economic
viability in the face of market competition and industry
regulation. This means understanding and reducing
the environmental impacts of their businesses while
optimising quality and yields.
Plant & Food Research works with industry to help achieve
this balance. Using our knowledge of complex systems
biology, we develop sustainable production, soil and water
management strategies for key crops. Our Sustainable
Production group employs science across a number of
complementary disciplines including systems modelling,
biometrics, tree, vine and crop science, social research,
bioengineering and environmental science. The result is
fully integrated systems which reduce inputs and maximise
productivity at all parts of the supply chain.
Much of our capability is applied to develop sciencebased integrated production systems which meet the
needs of New Zealand’s signature crops. These systems
allow industry to manage on-farm production issues
such as nutrient and chemical inputs, machinery use and
irrigation. In many instances, online tools and calculators
developed by Plant & Food Research assist growers in
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making decisions that optimise agrichemical, nutrient
and irrigation use to give the best economic, social and
environmental outcomes.
In addition, working with research collaborators here and
overseas our science teams are using their knowledge of
soil chemistry, system modelling and the supply chain
to better understand the true environmental footprint of
horticultural products through full lifecycle analysis. This
work generates opportunity for further refinement in
production systems aimed at reducing carbon emissions
and provides a valuable resource for marketing strategies
and labelling based on eco-verification.
With the seafood industry, we are developing transport
storage systems which increase quality and yield,
and researching new fishing methods which reduce
environmental impact. We have successfully conducted
field trials where fish were delivered on deck with greatly
improved quality characteristics in comparison with
conventional trawling approaches.
Our sustainability research also extends beyond the plant
and marine-based food industries to include other primary
industries and regulatory bodies. We work with the New
Zealand dairy industry to develop forage crop management
systems and optimise inputs for dairy farms. Through
the Sustainable Land Use Research Initiative (SLURI)
we are also working with land managers and regional
authorities to ensure efficient and sustainable land use and
to understand the potential outcomes new activities may
provoke.
Where new technology is introduced by primary industry,
we work to understand how that technology interacts with
biological systems, providing valuable insight into potential
economic, environmental and social impacts.

The safety of nanotechnology

Managing soil health

managing inputs for the
potato sector

Nanotechnology is a new science that
seeks to manipulate existing materials at a
molecular level to build new materials with
different properties and added value.

Growers and farmers are constantly seeking
to improve their crop and soil management
practices to meet shifts in market demand,
enhance economic and environmental
sustainability and maximise the productivity
of their land. To make the best decisions,
they need integrated tools which predict the
long term consequences of management
changes on soil health.

Potato growers in New Zealand, Australia
and North America are saving hundreds
of thousands of dollars in fertiliser and
irrigation costs thanks to the new Potato
Calculator. The online decision-support
technology produces schedules for fertiliser
and irrigation applications, highlighting
deficits or unnecessary surpluses and
enabling growers to optimise nitrogen and
water use, as well as to predict yield and
maturity dates.

Currently, the primary commercial use of
nanomaterials is in manufacturing and
cosmetics, but there is great potential for
the technology in wider applications such as
medicine and food production.
As a new technology with growing usage,
there is a requirement to ensure regulatory
and safety issues are well understood,
particularly the potential impacts on health
and the natural environment. As these
materials have new properties, they may
act in a different way to existing compounds
when ingested by animals or introduced to
soil systems.
Plant & Food Research scientists are using
their expertise in assessing the impacts
of agricultural and land use practices to
develop methods of testing nanomaterials
and identifying how they behave when
introduced to the environment. Our scientists
are using fluorescent nanodots to track and
understand how these particles move through
the soil, if plants absorb them through their
root systems and what happens when they
are eaten by invertebrates such as insects.
Using this knowledge, regulatory bodies can
understand what tests are required to ensure
safety prior to introducing nanomaterials
more widely in New Zealand.

This year, Plant & Food Research launched
the Land Management Index. The decisionsupport tool is based on soil quality
indicators from more than 500 paddocks
across New Zealand. The model allows
farmers and resource managers to predict
changes in soil health and associated
productivity based on historical land use as
well as current crop and soil management
information.
The tool can be used to plan management
changes by tracking soil health and
predicting risks to productivity. It can
also run change scenarios to explore
consequences of new management
practices, such as irrigation, winter grazing
and crop rotation, on soil conditions and
future productivity.

Our scientists used their knowledge of
potato crop physiology and soil physics to
create a simulation model of potato growth
and nutrient uptake in response to weather
and other local factors. Being able to
estimate crop size and predict harvest dates
allows growers and processors to plan
more effectively. It also satisfies mounting
consumer expectations for environmental
accountability, reducing the potential for
over-use of fertiliser and water.
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Programme Targets:

Our Science

Food Innovation

1

New plant-based food and seafood products developed with substantiated health and lifestyle claims

2

A new generation of functional foods based on holistic human physiology models

3

Understanding consumer purchase decisions and their relevance to premium product development

4

Assistance to major food and ingredient multinationals and SMEs with our value-adding knowledge and IP

Inspired by the high quality produce generated by New Zealand,
we work with industry partners to help meet current and
future market demand for premium foods and beverages.
New Zealand has a strong reputation for delivering natural
foods that meet or exceed consumer demand for taste and
quality. Our fruit, vegetable, arable and marine-sourced
food products deliver a high impact consumer experience
that is reflected in the premium prices they achieve in
world markets.
Many of New Zealand’s natural food products are perceived
by consumers as intrinsically healthy. This ‘health halo’ is
now becoming a bankable marketing asset as consumers
take a closer interest in the wellness benefits delivered
by specific foods. In addition, New Zealand’s history of
innovation in whole foods, specifically in new cultivar
development, leaves us well placed to capitalise on
increased demand for novelty and convenience.
Plant & Food Research’s Food Innovation group adds
value to New Zealand’s horticultural, arable and seafood
portfolios by improving on our existing whole food
products and developing new foods and ingredients that
maximise the benefits of natural produce.
Increasingly, consumers are defining benefits from food
in relation to specific wellness outcomes. This notion of a
personalised experience of food that allows consumers to
maximise the value of their diet hinges on the availability
of scientifically-validated food products that offer benefits
beyond basic nutrition. We are researching foods that offer
consumers the opportunity to perform better physically and
mentally, to manage food intake efficiently and to boost the
body’s natural immune system.
The Food Innovation group uses expertise in biochemistry,
nutrition and human biology to identify specific food
compounds that offer functional benefits, to understand
how the body is affected by what we eat and how
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combinations of ingredients can affect the overall
nutritional value of food. We then enhance and deliver
these benefits to consumers through elite plant cultivars,
novel foods and beverages and functional ingredients. Our
expertise in sensory and consumer science allows us to
assess the acceptability of new foods and ingredients and
ensure we deliver foods that consumers want to eat.
Plant & Food Research’s integrated research capability
allows our food researchers access to the proprietary plant
cultivars generated through our breeding programmes.
These are a rich source of inspiration and raw material
for developing new foods that capitalise on the distinctive
properties and characteristics of fresh produce. As
Plant & Food Research cultivars are IP protected we can
offer industry the ability to control supply. This allows
commercial partners to maximise the value of resulting
products through price premiums and niche market
dominance.
For fresh whole foods, we are exploring traits that meet
industry need and identified consumer preference. These
include improved quality and shelf life as well as validated
nutritional and wellness functionality. New presentations
and packaging are also under development to maintain
quality and improve consumer appeal.
Our ingredient focus is on identifying and developing
health-validated ingredients from specialist fruit, vegetable
and arable cultivars. This work will increasingly inform our
ongoing breeding programmes to ensure there are cultivars
available with the properties required for future whole food
and ingredient markets. This research is being applied
through partnerships with FMCG companies to investigate
new ingredient formulations and design new foods.

Helping New Zealanders make
healthy food choices

Wellness benefits from
berryfruit

Gastronomics – genetic links
to flavour perception

Modern consumers are bombarded with
messages around how to maintain a healthy
lifestyle and diet. These messages can be
complex and sometimes contradictory,
making it difficult to decide what foods to
buy and consume.

There is growing evidence that dark coloured
berryfruit can provide additional health
benefits beyond basic nutrition. Much
of this research is based around studies
of the antioxidant anthocyanin, which is
responsible for the dark blue/red colouring
of many fruits. Through their work with the
blackcurrant industry identifying specific
benefits available from New Zealand
blackcurrants, Plant & Food Research
scientists have discovered that other
natural chemicals in the berries may also
play a role in their unique health offering.

It is well known that our ability to smell
specific compounds is largely genetically
determined and is important in how we
perceive flavour. This year, Plant & Food
Research launched a major FRST-funded
programme called Gastronomics to
investigate exactly how individual human
genetics are linked to flavour perception
and the influence this has on personal
food choices.

Together with the New Zealand Nutrition
Foundation, Plant & Food Research has this
year helped launch the eMark, a new visual
method of food and drink classification that
provides a balanced, scientific viewpoint
on food properties and offers consumers a
simple guide to healthy eating.
The eMark symbol system uses easyto-read colours and numbers to inform
consumers. Numbers identify the amount of
energy per gram of food or 10ml of drinks.
Colours show how quickly the energy
is released into the body based on the
Glycaemic Index. The eMark website (www.
emark.co.nz) allows anyone, from child
to older adult, to develop a healthy meal
plan based on eMark recommendations.

Trials conducted this year have shown
that an extract derived from New Zealandgrown blackcurrants – taken in capsule
form before and after exercise – offers
three potential beneficial effects for
consumers: minimising muscle damage
by modulating oxidative stress, modulating
inflammation and potentially enhancing the
body’s natural defences against disease.
Ongoing research will determine exactly
what compounds are responsible for
the benefits. The study is part of a wider
research programme called ‘New Berries’
funded by the Government and the New
Zealand blackcurrant industry.

Within the programme, sensory science
and human genetics researchers are
working together for the first time to test
if a person’s genetic profile, particularly in
odour perception, can predict their personal
food preferences and food choices.
An early result from this programme came
through a pilot gene association study that
identified a region of human chromosome 6
as being important for the recognition of the
key ‘grassy’ note in kiwifruit. If differences in
ability to smell such compounds impact on
food preference then genetic variation may
be a useful predictor of flavour acceptance
and therefore a guide to developing flavoured
foods targeted to different markets.
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■ Fruit
Exports $1.46 bn
Domestic spend $1.29 bn

Impacts for Industry

■ Vegetables
Exports $0.55 bn
Domestic spend $0.9 bn

New Zealand’s
Horticulture
industry

$5.53 Billion

Adding value through science and innovation
Market access

Kiwifruit

Berryfruit

Vegetables

Food

The ability for the horticultural industry
to export its products is dependent on
the ability to deliver quality produce free
from pests and disease and that meets
international trade requirements. Plant &
Food Research ensures the New Zealand
market is competitive by working with
industry to deliver produce that is residuefree and environmentally and economically
sustainable. Our research also optimises
the value of fruit and vegetable crops
worldwide by developing systems and
technologies that ensure quality is
maintained throughout the cool chain.

Kiwifruit forms 65% of New Zealand’s
total fresh fruit exports, to a value of
$870 million*. The kiwifruit industry,
like many other industries, relies on
innovation and quality to maintain a
premium in the global marketplace.
Plant & Food Research is the primary
research provider for the New
Zealand kiwifruit industry through our
partnership with ZESPRI®. A broad
research programme includes breeding
new and novel varieties, with a focus
on novel colours and flavours to excite
consumers, as well as ensuring the
kiwifruit industry is sustainable long
term by developing tools and techniques
to increase yield, minimise inputs and
reduce environmental impacts.

Demand for berryfruit with high levels of
health-promoting antioxidants is causing
a global expansion in the berry industry.
We are helping industry with integrated
research programmes which address
all aspects of the berryfruit supply
chain. Our breeding programmes look
at developing new varieties of fruit with
high levels of antioxidants and superior
colour and taste, and our food research is
investigating the effects of berry-derived
compounds and how these can be used to
develop foods with added health benefits.

More than 50* types of vegetable are
grown in New Zealand for consuming
fresh or for processing, with an increase
in recent years in the range and volume
of Asian vegetable varieties for local
consumption. Plant & Food Research
works with the vegetable industry to
develop high value, sustainably produced
vegetables, delivering new cultivars
which meet consumer demand, as well
as tools and technologies to support
economically and environmentally
sustainable production systems.

Global market trends have been
identified for novel food products with
added consumer benefit, such as high
health, personalised nutrition and
wellbeing, food safety, convenience,
novelty and environmental responsibility.
Plant & Food Research is working with
partners to develop new foods inspired
by the high quality produce produced
by the New Zealand horticulture and
agriculture industries to address these
issues. New products being investigated
include plant cultivars with added health
functionality, plant compounds which
enhance gut wellbeing and ameliorate
digestive tract disorders, mood foods
and natural exercise performance and
recovery interventions.

Sustainability
Consumers are becoming more aware
of the environmental impact of their
food, creating a strong demand globally
to reduce the impact of horticultural
and agricultural businesses. Plant &
Food Research works with industry to
deliver fruits, vegetables and grains with
minimised carbon, water and biodiversity
footprints, as well as optimised nutrient
inputs. By working with us, producers
can quantify the sustainability of their
food production systems and capture
market premiums for eco-verified
products.

Bioprotection
The safety, security and sustainability
of New Zealand’s horticultural and
agricultural economy rely on innovative
technologies and practices that
safeguard against pest and disease.
Plant & Food Research scientists
apply an integrated approach to
pest and disease control, developing
sustainable, effective diagnostic and
predictive tools, control methods and
biological control agents for insect
pests and plant disease.
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Apples and pears
Apples are New Zealand’s second
largest fresh produce export. The $400
million* pipfruit export industry relies
on innovation to compete effectively
with increased pressure from emerging
producers in China and South America.
Plant & Food Research has developed
several successful commercial cultivars,
including blockbuster products JAZZ™
and the newly released ENVY™ marketed
by ENZA. Our ongoing breeding
programme develops new apple and
pear cultivars with novel colour, flavour
and texture characteristics to excite
consumers. New cultivars are exclusively
licensed through Prevar, a joint venture
between Plant & Food Research, Pipfruit
New Zealand, Apple & Pear Australia
Limited and the Associated International
Group of Nurseries. The Apple Futures
programme is working to ensure New
Zealand’s export success and market
access by developing tools allowing
producers to grow residue-free fruit.

Summerfruit

Arable

The growing New Zealand summerfruit
industry now produces more than $20
million* of exports. New cultivars allow
the industry to successfully compete with
its competitors, producing high quality
fruits that mature across the summerfruit
season. Plant & Food Research is
working with Summerfruit New Zealand
to develop peach, apricot and nectarine
cultivars adapted to New Zealand growing
conditions with novel flavour and texture
traits and that allow growers to take
advantage of windows in supply availability.

New Zealand’s arable industry is
domestic based and dominated by
the $100 million** wheat industry
and the $87 million** barley industry.
The majority of the grain crops are
used for animal feed, with smaller
volumes used in baking and brewing.
We support the arable industry with
research programmes to breed and
select new cultivars, control pests
and diseases and to optimise crop
management systems. Latest findings
on the efficient use of nutrients and
water help growers improve margins
and maintain the environment.

Potatoes
The domestic market consumes more than
$120 million* each year of potatoes and
potato products, with an additional $80
million* generated in exports. The industry
relies on breeding programmes to produce
new varieties of potato which appeal to the
consumer, or with characteristics required
by the processing industry. Plant & Food
Research is working with the industry to
develop sustainable production systems
which allow growers to optimise water
and nitrogen inputs and predict maturity
and yield, as well as developing integrated
approaches to control of pests and disease.

Apiculture
The horticultural and agricultural
industries are reliant on bee pollination.
Disease and introduced pests, such
as the varroa mite introduced in 2000,
can have devastating effects on the
bee population. Plant & Food Research
is working with industry to develop
methods of controlling varroa, through
the development of resistant populations
and sustainable control options, as well as
investigating pollination requirements and
management programmes for key crops.

Seafood
New Zealand’s diverse fishery resources
are well suited to meet the growing
global demand for fresh seafoods.
Our scientists work with the seafood
industry to deliver high quality seafood
to consumers using sustainable fish
production and processing systems.
We are also working with nutraceutical
companies to identify natural marine
compounds with potential health
promoting properties and develop
safe and economical technologies for
industrial production.

Floriculture
There is global demand for new
colours, patterns and forms from the
ornamentals industry. Plant & Food
Research scientists’ skills in breeding,
propagation and plant physiology are
helping to introduce new traits to cutflower, potted and garden plants, and
develop ornamental plant products that
are easy to grow and transport.

■ Other horticulture
Exports $0.93 bn
Domestic spend $0.4 bn

Wine
New Zealand wine is highly rated for
its unique flavour characteristics, and
is exported to 95* countries around
the world. To ensure the wine industry
remains competitive and continues to
deliver its distinctive points of difference,
Plant & Food Research are leading
integrated research programmes that
provide the science behind New Zealand’s
wine success and support future growth
and innovation. Our wine studies support
research and development by uncovering
how vineyard practices influence wine
quality and identifying the attributes
which contribute to New Zealand’s unique
wine flavours. We work with winegrowers
to improve the sustainability of vineyards
and address key pest and disease
management issues.

Dairy
The dairy industry requires economically
and environmentally sustainable
methods for milk production to meet
consumer demand. Plant & Food
Research provides expertise in forage
crops, water, soil and environment
management to enhance the pasturebased dairy industry. We develop ways
for farmers to use water and nutrients
efficiently, reducing risk of groundwater
contamination or increased greenhouse
gas emissions. We breed new cultivars
for forage and feed crops and develop
sustainable crop production systems.

* Figures for year to 30 June 2008, from Fresh Facts 2008
** Figures from Foundation for Arable Research
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Our people

Positively Embracing Change

It is a testimony to the people of Plant & Food Research that, throughout the course
of the merger and its many resulting challenges, there has been an unwavering
belief in the promise it presented: enhanced ability to accelerate the delivery and
commercialisation of research for the benefit of New Zealand.

This outlook has been exemplified by the hard work and
dedication of all those involved in both the restructuring
and the large number of merger projects, with the targets
established for these being achieved without compromising
the organisation’s ability to deliver its core business.
This achievement gives us great confidence for the future
– something which is further strengthened by the high
calibre of the appointments we have been able to make
from within the organisation to leadership positions at
all levels.
In recognising the unwavering dedication of all those who
have contributed to the merger, special mention must also
be made of the 31 people who have left the organisation,
largely as a result of the consolidation and centralisation of
senior management and associated corporate functions at
headquarters in Auckland.
Many were long serving staff who had given much to our
foundation institutes during the course of their careers
and it is appropriate that this report acknowledges their
contribution.
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Developing our Leaders

PSA Partnership

A Safe and Healthy Workplace

The ability to successfully implement change is the hallmark
of great leadership.

We have an ongoing commitment to maintaining a
productive relationship with the PSA, which represents
more than 70% of staff. In a partnership initiative, the
conditions of employment and remuneration provisions
of the two founding organisations have been reviewed
and integrated, prior to negotiations for a new Collective
Agreement. In addition, a pay and employment equity
review has been completed in collaboration with
AgResearch, ESR and the Department of Labour. The
resulting response plan will form a basis for future
initiatives for further advancing equity and a positive work
environment across Plant & Food Research.

Plant & Food Research has a fundamental concern for the
health and wellbeing of our people that extends beyond
mere legislative compliance and the management of
risk. The National Health & Safety Committee, which
brings together site safety representatives from across the
organisation, has an ambitious set of objectives for the year
ahead. This includes readying the new organisation for
external audit, with the aim of retaining tertiary level status
in ACC’s Workplace Safety Management Programme.

Within the former HortResearch, the highly regarded
Leadership Programme undoubtedly played a key part in the
development of a stronger and more positive organisation.
For Plant & Food Research, the programme offers the same
potential as a powerful vehicle for the development of its
current and future leaders and the promotion of a unified,
positive culture. The programme has been reviewed and
refreshed to ensure that it is fit-for-purpose within Plant
& Food Research and has been re-launched, with the first
intake of team leaders completing their programmes in July.
Planning for the Future
Plant & Food Research has adopted and is further
developing systems to ensure that the new organisation
identifies, acquires and develops the people and capabilities
it needs for continued success. This is a key role for
the Human Resources team, where existing strengths
in recruitment and organisational development have
been enhanced with the addition of analytical capability
supported by new HR information systems and recruitment
management technologies.

Promoting Careers in Science
As one of New Zealand’s largest scientific research
organisations, Plant & Food Research is committed to
actively promoting science as a rewarding career choice for
our best and brightest young people. In addition to taking
an active involvement in careers fairs at universities across
the country, our annual summer studentship programme
provides the opportunity for up to 25 promising science
students to gain insight into being part of a world-class
science project.

Our Commitment as a Good Employer
Plant & Food Research has a commitment to ensuring
that ‘good employer’ principles and practices underpin all
our people-related activities and initiatives. Early priorities
have been the adoption of a recruitment and selection
policy and procedures and conditions of employment
to ensure equal employment opportunities across the
organisation. A new performance planning and review
system developed with extensive input from employees
has a strong developmental focus, and will be supported
by significant ongoing investment in learning and career
development for staff at all levels.
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The Directors are pleased to present the financial statements 
of The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited 
for the year ended 30 June 2009.

TO THE READERS OF THE NEW ZEALAND INSTITUTE FOR
PLANT AND FOOD RESEARCH LIMITED AND GROUP’S
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

2009
Budget

2008
Actual

$000

$000

$000

Results of Group Operations

Revenue

92,321

51,522

48,072

The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food
Research Limited was officially formed on
1 December 2008.The 2009 actual results
therefore represent 7 months trading from
Plant & Food Research and 5 months
trading from Crop & Food Research. The
2009 budget and 2008 comparatives are for
Crop & Food Research only.		
				
		

Operating profit/(loss) before taxation

(3,377)

865

(662)

Less taxation
Operating profit/(loss) after taxation
Operating loss attributable to minority interest
Operating profit/(loss) attributable to Parent

124

(14)

640

(3,501)

879

(1,302)

(207)

(272)

-

(3,294)

1,151

(1,302)

Principal Activity of the group

Directors’ Remuneration

The Group’s principal activity is to conduct scientific research in
horticulture, food and related industries in accordance with the purpose
and principles for the operation of Crown Research Institutes as set out in
sections 4 and 5 of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992.
The Company is a private company limited by shares and incorporated in
accordance with the Companies Act 1993.

During the year the following remuneration was paid or payable to
Directors in accordance with the schedule approved by the Shareholding
Ministers:		

Review of Operations
Reviews of operations accompany this report on page 6.
Share Dealings
The Directors have not, and are unable to, trade in shares of the Company
as all shares of the Company are held by the Shareholding Ministers on
behalf of the Crown. Accordingly the Board has received no notices of
dealings in relevant interests in shares of the Company.
Directors’ Insurance
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance was effected for the Directors
and certain employees of the Company. The insurance is in respect of
certain specified liabilities, not including criminal liability, incurred by
a Director or employee in respect of any act or omission in his or her
capacity as a Director or employee of the Company.
The Company has indemnified Directors and certain employees of the
Company for costs and proceedings and for liabilities incurred by the
employee in respect of any act or omission in his or her capacity as an
employee of the Company. The indemnity for liabilities incurred does not
extend to criminal liability or liability for breach of a fiduciary duty owed to
the Company.
Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as the audit service
provider by the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General is the statutory
auditor pursuant to section 14 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 21
of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992.
Significant Changes
On 13 August 2008 shareholding Ministers approved a proposal to merge
existing Crown Research Institutes (CRI) HortResearch and Crop & Food
Research to create a new CRI dedicated to innovation that supports
growth in New Zealand’s plant and marine-based food industries.
Further details of the amalgamation are disclosed in note 30 of the
accounts.
There were no other significant changes to the business of the Company
during the year.
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2009
Actual

J McLean
R Wong
P Boyle
J Elrick
R Janes
J Scotland
A Koltunow
K Marshall
N Sheehan

$

43,020
64,041
60,208
30,431
37,896
23,333
20,000
20,000
11,146

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee
complete accuracy of the financial statements.

Unqualified Opinion

Fundamental uncertainty about the viability of a
wholly owned subsidiary

In our opinion:
• The financial statements of the company and group on pages 26
to 53:
- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New
Zealand; and
- give a true and fair view of:
- the company and group’s financial position as at 30 June
2009; and
- the results of operations and cash flows for the year ended
on that date.
• Based on our examination the company and group kept proper
accounting records.
The audit was completed on 27 August 2009, and is the date at
which our opinion is expressed.
The basis of our opinion, which refers to a fundamental uncertainty,
is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the
Board of Directors and the Auditor, and explain our independence.

(retired 30 June 2009)

Basis of Opinion
We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s
Auditing Standards, which incorporate the New Zealand Auditing
Standards.

(retired 1 December 2008)

Remuneration of Employees
The number of employees and ex-employees whose total remuneration,
including benefits and severance payments on an annualised basis, was
in excess of $100,000 in $10,000 bands, is:

Remuneration Number of
bands in $000 employees

Remuneration Number of
bands in $000 employees

100 - 109
110 - 119
120 - 129
130 - 139
140 - 149
150 - 159
160 - 169
180 - 189
190 - 199
200 - 209

220 - 229
230 - 239
240 - 249
250 - 259
260 - 269
270 - 279
300 - 309*
350 - 359
400 - 409**

35
19
7
7
5
6
2
2
3
1

The Auditor-General is the auditor of The New Zealand Institute
for Plant and Food Research Limited (the company) and group. The
Auditor-General has appointed me, Robert Harris, using the staff
and resources of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to carry out the audit of
the financial statements of the company and group, on his behalf,
for the year ended 30 June 2009.

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

* Includes the Chief Executive’s remuneration
** Includes the retiring Chief Executive’s remuneration and severance
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors:

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information
and explanations we considered necessary in order to obtain
reasonable assurance that the financial statements did not have
material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.
Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts
and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall understanding
of the financial statements. If we had found material misstatements
that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our
opinion.
The audit involved performing procedures to test the information
presented in the financial statements. We assessed the results of
those procedures in forming our opinion.
Audit procedures generally include:
• determining whether significant financial and management
controls are working and can be relied on to produce complete
and accurate data;
• verifying samples of transactions and account balances;
• performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;

In forming our unqualified opinion, we considered the adequacy
of the disclosures made in note 18 on page 44 about GraceLinc
Limited’s ability to generate positive cashflows from its operations
in the near future. The outcome of GraceLinc Limited’s ability to
generate positive cashflows from operations is uncertain at this
stage and the viability of GraceLinc Limited is, in the short term,
dependent upon continued financial support from The New Zealand
Institute for Plant and Food Research Limited, and thereafter on the
commercial success of its products.
If GraceLinc Limited was unable to generate sufficient positive
cashflows from its operations in the near future, adjustments may
have to be made to the carrying value of the investment in GraceLinc
Limited in the company’s Statement of Financial Position and the
carrying values and classifications of GraceLinc Limited’s assets and
liabilities included in the group’s Statement of Financial Position.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the
Auditor
The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
practice in New Zealand. Those financial statements must give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the company and group
as at 30 June 2009. They must also give a true and fair view of the
results of operations and cash flows for the year ended on that
date. The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the Crown
Research Institutes Act 1992, the Public Finance Act 1989 and the
Financial Reporting Act 1993.
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on
the financial statements and reporting that opinion to you. This
responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001,
section 21(1) of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992 and the
Public Finance Act 1989.
Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the independence
requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the
independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of New Zealand. In addition to the audit we have
carried out assignments in the area of provision of financial
reporting advice which are compatible with these independence
requirements.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the
company or any of its subsidiaries.

• reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the
Board of Directors;
• confirming year-end balances;
• determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and
consistently applied; and
• determining whether all financial statement disclosures are
adequate.

Jim McLean, Chairman
27 August 2009

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information
in the financial statements. We obtained all the information and
explanations we required to support our opinion above.

Robert Harris
PricewaterhouseCoopers
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Christchurch, New Zealand
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BALANCE SHEET

INCOME STATEMENT

as at 30 June 2009

for the year ended 30 June 2009

Note
Revenue
Crown-funded research contracts
Commercial science research contracts
Other income

Less operating costs
Personnel costs
Restructuring
Depreciation expense
Amortisation expense
Gain/(loss) on sale of assets
Impairment of investments
Impairment of assets
Library asset write-off
Other operating expenses

2008
Actual

2009
Actual

2008
Actual

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

42,440
47,526
2,355
92,321

24,205
25,198
2,119
51,522

27,181
18,852
2,039
48,072

42,440
46,449
2,533
91,422

27,181
17,842
2,178
47,201

49,495
3,770
5,540
495
(32)
115
233
1,813
33,637
95,066

27,633
269
2,742
495
(2,000)
20,973
50,112

25,466
119
2,829
345
141
19,357
48,257

47,898
3,770
5,293
331
(41)
865
233
1,813
32,741
92,903

24,315
119
2,587
180
138
4,396
18,368
50,103

(2,745)
411
(1,076)
(3,410)
33

1,410
30
(575)
865
-

(185)
107
(592)
(670)
8

(1,481)
411
(1,076)
(2,146)
-

(2,902)
177
(592)
(3,317)
-

(3,377)
124
(3,501)
(207)
(3,294)

865
(14)
879
(272)
1,151

(662)
640
(1,302)
(1,302)

(2,146)
(343)
(1,803)
(1,803)

(3,317)
487
(3,804)
(3,804)

(14)
(5)
(5)
(18) (20)
(3 AA)
(6)

(7)
(7)

Share of retained profit/(loss) of associates

(19)

(8)
(31)

Current assets
Cash and short-term deposits
Receivables and prepayments
Inventories
Derivative financial instruments
Total current assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals
Employee entitlements - current
Restructuring provision
Current portion mortgage
Loans and borrowings
Taxation payable
Total current liabilities

Group
2009
Budget

2008
Actual

Note

$000

$000

$000

$000

(9)
(10)
(11)

9,126
18,505
2,506
30,137

448
7,895
1,446
9,789

1,506
7,141
1,968
26
10,641

8,803
18,451
645
27,899

1,359
7,518
329
26
9,232

(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(15)
(8)

18,677
8,241
1,240
14
441
28,613

6,662
2,435
9,097

8,254
2,390
200
458
11,302

18,680
8,142
1,240
14
439
28,515

8,074
2,333
458
10,865

1,524

692

(661)

(616)

(1,633)

65,894
2,646
154
702
3,903
73,299

26,386
2,053
538
320
810
78
30,185

26,090
2,389
508
261
1,199
52
30,499

64,406
1,281
2,507
3,576
236
670
3,559
76,235

24,393
859
5,276
617
236
399
52
31,832

1,200
307
83
1,590

668
6,000
6,668

728
6,000
6,728

1,176
307
1,483

728
6,000
6,728

73,233

24,209

23,110

74,136

23,471

Working capital
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Subsidiary and associate receivables
Investments - subsidiaries
Investments - associates
Investments - other
Deferred tax asset
Derivative financial instruments
Total non-current assets
Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements - non current
Mortgage
Loans
Total non-current liabilities

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2009

(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)

(13)
(15)
(15)

NET ASSETS

Equity at start of year

23,110

23,110

23,120

23,471

25,999

Operating profit/(loss) after taxation
Movement in foreign currency translation reserve
Movement in cash flow hedge reserve
Total recognised income and expense

(3,294)
(5)
(3)
(3,302)

1,151
1,151

(1,302)
16
(1,286)

(1,803)
(3)
(1,806)

(3,804)
(3,804)

54,201
403
(1,606)
52,998
427
73,233

(1,524)
(1,524)
1,472
24,209

1,400
(124)
1,276
23,110

54,077
(1,606)
52,471
74,136

1,400
(124)
1,276
23,471

Issue of ordinary shares
Gain on amalgamation
Gain on sale of shares in subsidiary
Dividends payable to shareholder
Movement in equity for the year
Minority interest
Equity at end of year

2009
Actual

Parent

Parent
2009
2008
Actual
Actual
$000

(4)

Operating profit/(loss) before interest & taxation
Finance income
Finance costs

Operating profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation (benefit) / expense
Operating profit/(loss) after taxation
Operating profit/(loss) attributable to minority interest
Operating profit/(loss) attributable to Parent

2009
Actual

Group
2009
Budget

(23)

(22)
(30)
(22)
(22)
(31)

Represented by:
Equity
Share capital

(22)

17,436

17,436

17,436

17,436

17,436

Retained earnings
Foreign currency translation reserve
Cash flow hedge reserve

(22)
(22)
(23)

55,414
(41)
(3)

5,337
(36)
-

5,710
(36)
-

56,703
(3)

6,035
-

Minority interest

(31)

427

1,472

-

-

-

73,233

24,209

23,110

74,136

23,471

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors:

Jim McLean, Chairman
27 August 2009

The 2009 budget and 2008 comparatives are for the former entity Crop & Food Research only, prior to amalgamation.
The accompanying notes form part of these accounts.
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Janie Elrick, Director
27 August 2009

The 2009 budget and 2008 comparatives are for the former entity Crop & Food Research only, prior to amalgamation.
The accompanying notes form part of these accounts.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2009

for the year ended 30 June 2009

Note

2009
Actual

Group
2009
Budget

Parent
2008
Actual

2009
Actual

2008
Actual

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000
1. Reporting Entities

Cashflows from/applied to operating activities
Receipts from customers
Interest and dividends from investments

105,827
480

62,820
50

61,024
90

103,453
479

59,514
160

Payments to employees & suppliers
Interest paid
Tax paid

(96,796)
(845)
(33)

(61,860)
(564)
(55)

(56,900)
(491)
(46)

(93,247)
(845)
(37)

(53,383)
(491)
(41)

(25)

8,633

391

3,677

9,803

5,759

(19)

52
400

2,150
-

6
-

41
400

6
-

(6,457)
(784)
(288)

(3,345)
(274)

(2,829)
(325)
(174)

(6,407)
(784)
(288)

(2,707)
(325)
(2,349)

(7,077)

(1,469)

(3,322)

(7,038)

(5,375)

Cashflows from/applied to financing activities
Capital received

1,037

1,744

1,400

-

1,400

Dividends paid
Repayment of term loan
Advance to GraceLinc

(1,606)
(6,214)
-

(1,524)
(200)
-

(124)
-

(1,606)
(6,014)
(500)

(124)
-

Net cashflows from financing activities

(6,783)

20

1,276

(8,120)

1,276

Net cashflow

(5,227)

(1,058)

1,631

(5,355)

1,660

Effect of foreign currency translation adjustment
Opening cash position
Cash addition from amalgamation

(5)
1,506
12,852

1,506
-

18
(143)
-

1,359
12,799

(301)
-

9,126

448

1,506

8,803

1,359

Net cashflows from operating activities
Cashflows from/applied to investing activities
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Sale of investment

The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited (the “Company” or “Plant & Food Research”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is a Crown
Research Institute governed by the Crown Research Institute Act 1992 and is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The
whole of the share capital is held by Ministers of the Crown on behalf of the New Zealand Government.
The Group is primarily involved in research services on a fee-for-service basis.
The parent Company and the Group are designated as profit-oriented entities for financial reporting purposes.
These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 August 2009.
The Group changed its name to The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited following an amalgamation on 1 December 2008, refer
note 30.

2. Basis of Preparation
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of investments

(16)
(17)

Net cashflows from investing activities

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars (NZD), which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. All financial
information presented in New Zealand dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000).
These financial statements are for the twelve months ended 30 June 2009. The 2009 actual results represent 7 months trading from Plant & Food
Research and 5 months trading from Crop & Food Research. The 2008 comparatives comprise Crop & Food Research only. Refer note 30 for details of
the amalgamation.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings, available-for-sale
financial assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.
(A) Statement of Compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992, the Public Finance Act
1989, the Companies Act 1993 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993.
The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP). They comply with
New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), and other Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for profitoriented entities. They also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
(B) Use of Estimates

Closing cash position

(30)

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses. Although these estimates are based on management’s knowledge of current events and actions that may be undertaken in the
future, actual results may ultimately differ from estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised and in any future periods affected. Use of estimates and assumptions is disclosed further in note 3(X).
(C) Standards and Interpretation Issued and not yet Adopted
The following standards, interpretations, and amendments that have been issued, but are not yet effective, that are relevant to the Group that have not
been early adopted are:
NZ IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements
From the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2009 all changes in equity arising from transactions with shareholders in their capacity
as owners are to be presented separately from non-owner changes in equity. This will mean that there will be an Income Statement, a Statement of
Comprehensive Income and a Statement of Change in Equity.
NZ IAS 23 Borrowing costs
From the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2009 borrowing costs attributable directly or indirectly to the construction of qualifying
assets must be capitalised to the cost of those assets. The impact of reduced costs in the Income Statement and increased carrying values of qualifying
assets is expected to be immaterial.
NZ IFRS 3 Business combinations
From the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2009 there will be significant changes to the method used to account for business
combinations, in particular in relation to the treatment of transaction costs and contingent consideration.
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The 2009 budget and 2008 comparatives are for the former entity Crop & Food Research only, prior to amalgamation.
The accompanying notes form part of these accounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 30 June 2009

for the year ended 30 June 2009

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Sale of goods-other than manufactured goods
Sales of goods are recognised when a product is sold to the customer. Sales are usually on account. The recorded revenue is the gross amount of the
sale, net of returns.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.
(A) Basis of Consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the parent entity, Plant & Food Research, and its controlled entities. Controlled entities
include entities over which the Group has the power to govern financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the activities of the entity.
This power exists where the Group controls the majority voting power on the governing body or where such policies have been irreversibly predetermined
by the Group or where the determination of such policies is unable to materially impact upon the level of potential ownership benefits that arise from the
activities of the subsidiary. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date which the Group
obtains control and until such time as the Group ceases to control the entity. Any changes in the Parent ownership interest that do not result in the loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
The Group measures the cost of a business combination as the aggregate of fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, in exchange for control of the subsidiary plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.
Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities is recognised as goodwill. If the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the difference will be recognised immediately in the Income Statement.
The purchase method of accounting is used to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the effects of all transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between entities in the Group have been
eliminated. The Group’s investment in its subsidiaries are initially carried at cost in the Parent’s financial statements subject to any write down arising
from an annual impairment review.
The financial statements of controlled entities have been prepared for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using consistent accounting
policies.
(ii) Associates
Associates are those entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, of the financial and operating policies.
Investments in associate companies have been accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the surplus or deficit of the associate after the date of acquisition. The Group’s share
of the surplus or deficit of the associate is recognised in the Group’s Income Statement. Distributions received from an associate reduce the carrying
amount of the investment.
If the Group’s share of deficits of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group discontinues recognising it’s share of further
deficits. After the Group’s interest is reduced to zero, additional deficits are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports surpluses, the Group will
resume recognising its share of those surpluses only after its share of the surpluses equals the share of the deficits not recognised.

Sale of services
Research services are provided on a fixed-price contract, with contract terms generally ranging from less than a year to five years.
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction, assessed on the basis of the
actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. If circumstances arise that may change the extent of the progress toward
completion, the estimates are revised. These revisions may result in increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs and are reflected in income
in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management.
Royalties
Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.
(iii) Other income
Rental income
Lease receipts under an operating lease are recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
(iv) Dividend and interest revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established. Interest revenue is
recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
(C) Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions, except when forward
currency contracts have been taken out to cover short- term forward currency commitments. Where short-term forward currency contracts have been taken out,
the transaction is translated at the rate contained in the contract. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange
rate prevailing at the period end. Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at balance date of
foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the Income Statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.
The results and balance sheets of all foreign operations that have a functional currency different from New Zealand dollars are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:
The assets and liabilities of foreign controlled entities are translated by applying the rate ruling at balance date and revenue and expense items are
translated at the average rate calculated for the period. The exchange differences arising on the re translation are taken directly to equity in the foreign
currency translation reserve.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowing and other currency
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholder’s equity.

The Group’s share in the associate’s surplus or deficits resulting from unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates is
eliminated. The Group’s investments in associates are carried at cost in the Parent’s financial statements.

(D) Borrowing Costs

(iii) Joint Ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control. The Group
recognises its interest in jointly controlled entities using the equity method. The investment in a jointly controlled entity is initially recognised at cost and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the surplus or deficit of the jointly controlled entity after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s share of the profit or loss of the jointly controlled entity is recognised in the Group’s Income Statement. The Group’s investment
in a jointly controlled entity is carried at cost in the Parent’s financial statements.

(E) Cash and Cash Equivalents

(B) Revenue

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
provision for doubtful receivables.

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable to the extent that it is probable, that economic benefits will flow to the
Group. Revenue is shown net of GST, returns and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. The following specific recognition criteria must
be met before revenue is recognised:
(i) Crown funded research contracts
Revenue from the Crown is recognised in the Income Statement when the requirements under the funding agreement have been met.
(ii) Commercial science research contracts
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the customer.
Sale of goods- manufactured
The Group manufactures product for the food industry. Sales of goods are recognised when a Group entity has delivered product to a manufacturer. At
this point there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect a manufacturer’s acceptance of the product. Delivery does not occur until the product has
been shipped to the specified location.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of three
months or less after balance date, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the Balance Sheet.
(F) Trade and Other Receivables

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off when identified. A provision
for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate, if applicable. The amount of the provision is recognised in the Income Statement.
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the provision if it has been provided for or immediately recognised in the Income
Statement if not. Any recoveries of trade receivables written off are credited against bad debts in the Income Statement.
(G) Inventories
Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not supplied on a commercial basis are measured at the lower of
cost and current replacement cost.
Inventories held for use in the production of goods and services on a commercial basis are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the first-in, first-out method and for both work in progress and finished goods includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.
Agricultural produce is valued at fair value less estimated selling costs.
The write down from cost to current replacement cost or net realisable value is recognised in the Income Statement.
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The profit contained in the intra -company sales of inventory has been eliminated on consolidation.
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(H) Property, Plant and Equipment

(ii) Software
The cost of software, databases and related items, either acquired or internally generated, is recognised as an expense when incurred, except for:

The Group has four classes of property, plant and equipment:
- Land
                        - Buildings
- Plant and equipment
- Motor vehicles
Land is recorded at cost. All other property, plant and equipment is shown at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses, except for assets transferred from the Crown. Property, plant and equipment transferred from the Crown has been included in the
accounts at values established by independent valuers. All subsequent expenditure has been initially recorded at cost.

The cost of software, databases and related items, either acquired or internally generated, for business management systems is capitalised as
intangible assets.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Cost includes expenditures that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount only
when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the Income Statement when the expense is incurred. Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a
nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. The Group constructs some items of plant for use in research. These have been
brought into the accounts at the cost of direct labour and materials plus an appropriate proportion of direct overheads.

The carrying value of software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and
ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the Income Statement.

Land transferred to the Group cannot be freely traded. Section 30 of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992 requires that prior to sale sections 40-42 of
the Public Works Act 1981 be complied with. These sections require that land offered for sale must be offered to the original owner of that land or their
successors. An arbitration clause is included to establish fair values for such offers.

(iii) Trademarks and licenses
The cost of acquired trademarks and licenses are capitalised as intangible assets where they will probably generate measurable economic benefits
exceeding costs beyond one year. Trademarks and licenses have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposal are
included in the Income Statement.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives, which is between 10 and 15 years.

(I) Depreciation
Depreciation on assets, except land, is calculated using the straight-line method, at rates calculated to allocate the asset’s cost, less estimated residual
value, over its estimated useful life. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired period of the lease and the estimated
useful life of improvements.
The useful lives of major asset classes of property, plant and equipment have been estimated as follows:
Land 10 - 40 years
                Buildings   10 - 100 years
Plant and equipment 3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 - 10 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end.
The assets’ carrying value is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount.
(J) Intangible Assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at its cost, being the excess of acquisition cost over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets by applying the purchase method. Goodwill on
acquisition of associates is included in investments in associates by applying the equity method.
Goodwill arising in business combinations is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually. After initial recognition, the Group
measures goodwill at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill will not be reversed in any subsequent
period.
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purposes of impairment testing.
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The cost of software, databases and related items, either acquired or internally generated, which are unique and controlled by the Group, and that will
probably generate measurable economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year is capitalised as intangible assets.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
Software 3 - 5 years

(iv) Research and development
Research and development is the business of the Company. Most work is performed under contract for others, though in some cases intellectual
property rights are retained. All research and development costs are expensed in the period they are incurred.
When a project reaches the stage where it will probably generate future measurable economic benefits exceeding development cost, development cost
is recognised as intangible asset. The asset is amortised from the commencement of commercial production of the product to which it relates, on a
straight-line basis, over the period of expected benefit.
                 Development cost 12 years

(K) Investments and Other Financial Assets
Financial assets include investments in companies other than subsidiaries and associates. Financial assets are measured at fair value. The Group
classifies its investments by the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.
Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs unless they are carried at fair value through profit or loss, in
which case the transaction costs are recognised in the Income Statement.
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price
used is the current bid price.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques.
The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices
or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are
used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.
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(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial
asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they
are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date. After initial recognition they are measured at their
fair values. Gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the Income Statement.

(P) Employee Benefits

Financial assets in this category include derivatives, see note 3 (T).
(ii) Financial assets at fair value through equity (available for sale)
Financial assets at fair value through equity are those that are designated as fair value through equity or are not classified in any of the other categories.
This category encompasses:
- Investments that Plant & Food Research intends to hold long-term but which may be realised before maturity; and
- Shareholdings that Plant & Food Research holds for strategic purposes.
Plant & Food Research’s investments in its subsidiary and associate companies are not included in this category as they are held at cost (as allowed by
NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and NZ IAS 28 Investments in Associates) whereas this category is to be measured at fair value.
After initial recognition these investments are measured at their fair value plus transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised directly in equity
except for impairment losses, which are recognised in the Income Statement. In the event of impairment, any cumulative losses previously recognised
in equity will be removed from equity and recognised in the Income Statement even though the asset has not been derecognised. On de-recognition the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the Income Statement.
(iii) Loans and receivables
These are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses when the asset is impaired or
derecognised are recognised in the Income Statement. Loans and receivables are classified as “trade and other receivables” and “cash and short term
deposits” in the Balance Sheet.

(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and other benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to balance date including related on-costs. The
benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, incentives and other benefits. The provision for employee benefits is measured at the
remuneration rates expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
The Group recognises a liability for sick leave to the extent that absences in the coming year are expected to be greater than the sick leave entitlements
earned in the coming year. The amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be carried forward at balance date, to the
extent that the Group anticipates it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
(ii) Long service leave and retirement leave
Service leave and retirement leave entitlements are calculated based on the employee’s entitlement and their current pay rate. The liability for long
service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect
of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service.
Long term benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are classified as employee entitlements under current liabilities.
(iii) Pension and post retirement benefits
The Group operates a defined contribution superannuation plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions to a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.
The Group’s contributions made to defined contribution superannuation plans are recognised as an expense in the Income Statement when they are due.
(iv) Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Company has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has
commenced or has been announced publicly.

(L) Impairment of Financial Assets
At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Any
impairment losses are recognised in the Income Statement.

(M) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, or where annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Group makes a formal estimate of the recoverable amount. Assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic
benefits or service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash flows and where the entity would, if
deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits or service potential.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cashgenerating units). The value in use for cash-generating assets is the present value of expected future cash flows. An impairment loss is recognised in
the Income Statement. Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date, this is
recognised in the Income Statement.

(N) Trade Payables

The Company leases certain plant and equipment, land and buildings.
Finance leases, where the lessee is transferred substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of an asset, whether or not title is
eventually transferred.
At the commencement of the lease term, the Group recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet at the lower of the fair value
of the leased item or the present value of the minimum lease payments. The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there is
uncertainty as to whether the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term
and its useful life.
Operating lease payments, where the lessors effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are
recognised as an expense in the Income Statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(R) Income Tax
(i) Current tax
Income tax expense comprises both current tax and deferred tax, and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by balance date. Current tax and deferred tax are charged or credited to the Income Statement, except when they relate to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the tax is dealt with in equity. Current tax is the amount of income tax payable based on the taxable profit for the current
year, plus any adjustments to income tax payable in respect of prior years.

(O) Provisions

(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the amount of income tax payable or recoverable in future periods in respect of temporary differences calculated using the liability
method and unused tax losses. Deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (either legal or constructive), as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

Deferred tax is recognised if it arises from investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the company can
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance
sheet date, the discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

34

(Q) Leases
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(S) Goods & Services Tax (GST)

(i) Property, plant and equipment useful lives and residual value (continued)

The Income Statement has been prepared so that all components are stated exclusive of GST. All items in the Balance Sheet are stated net of GST, with
the exception of receivables and payables which include GST invoiced. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax then it is recognised as part of the
related asset or expense. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department is included as part of receivables or
payables in the Balance Sheet.
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in
the Cash Flow Statement.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

(T) Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group enters into derivative transactions, principally interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts. The purpose of these transactions is to
manage the interest rate and currency risk arising from the Group’s operations. All derivative financial instruments are recognised in the Balance Sheet
at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised either in the Income Statement or in equity depending on
whether the derivative financial instrument qualifies for hedge accounting, and if so, whether it qualifies as a fair value hedge or cash flow hedge.
In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Interest rate swaps are accounted for at fair value through the Income Statement. At each balance date interest rate swap derivative financial
instruments are re-measured at their fair value with any changes in the fair value recognised immediately through the Income Statement.
Changes in the fair values of forward currency contracts that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, to the extent that they are effective hedges,
are recorded in equity. The gains and losses that are recognised in equity are transferred to the Income Statement in the same period in which the
hedged item affects earnings. On sale, expiry, or de-designation of a forward currency contract, the cumulative gains or losses are maintained in equity
until such time as the forecast transaction impacts earnings. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur the cumulative gain or loss is
transferred to the Income Statement. The Group documents at inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedging
items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The process includes linking all forward
currency contract derivative financial instruments to specific firm commitments or forecast transactions. The Group also documents its assessment,
both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the forward currency derivative financial instruments used are highly effective.

(U) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value plus transition costs. After initial recognition all borrowings are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

(V) Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(W) Budget Figures
The budget figures are derived from the Crop & Food Research Statement of Corporate Intent as approved by the Board at the beginning of the financial
year. The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ IFRS, using accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Group
for the preparation of these financial statements. The budget figures are unaudited.

(X) Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
In preparing these financial statements the Group has made estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions
may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
(i) Property, plant and equipment useful lives and residual value
At each balance date the Group reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property, plant and equipment. Assessing the appropriateness of useful
life and residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires the Group to consider a number of factors such as the physical condition of
the asset, expected period of use of the asset by the Group, and expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or the residual value will impact the depreciation expense recognised in the Income Statement, and carrying
amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet. The Group minimises the risk of this estimation uncertainty by physical inspection of assets, an asset
replacement program, review of second hand market prices for similar assets and an analysis of prior asset sales. The Group has not made significant
changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values. The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is disclosed in note 16.
(ii) Investment Impairment
The Parent annually performs an impairment review of its significant subsidiaries and associates. None of the subsidiaries or associates are actively
traded in any market.
A discounted cash flow model, developed by an external party, is used to calculate the fair value of the subsidiaries and associates so as to determine if
an impairment adjustment is required. The subsidiaries and associates are early start up companies. The most significant in this Group and to the Group
is GraceLinc Limited.
Significant judgement is required in determining the fair value in the following areas:
a) value and timing of revenue recognition
b) value and timing of earnings before interest and tax
c) value of earnings before tax and interest in 5 years time
d) value and timing of capital expenditure
e) weighted average cost of capital (June 2009:16%)
(iii) Retirement and long service leave
The present value of the retirement and long service leave obligations depend on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a
number of assumptions. Two key assumptions used in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary inflation factor. Any changes in
these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of the liability.
In determining the appropriate discount rate the Company considered the interest rates on NZ government bonds which have terms to maturity that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. The salary inflation factor has been determined after considering historical salary
inflation patterns. A weighted average discount rate of 4.8% and a salary inflation factor of 4.7% were used.
If the discount rate were to differ by 1% from the Company’s estimates, with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the liability would be
an estimated $14,000 higher/lower.
If the salary inflation factor were to differ by 1% from the Company’s estimates, with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the liability
would be an estimated $1,000 higher/lower.
The carrying amount of employee entitlements are disclosed in the Balance Sheet.

(Y) Critical Judgements in Applying the Company’s Accounting Policies
Management has exercised the following critical judgement in applying the Company’s accounting policies for the period ended 30 June 2009:
(i) Lease classification
Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance or an operating lease requires judgement as to whether the agreement transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group. Judgement is required on various aspects that include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the
leased asset, the economic life of the leased asset, whether or not to include renewal options in the lease term and determining an appropriate discount
rate to calculate the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Classification as a finance lease means the asset is recognised in the Balance Sheet as property, plant and equipment, whereas for an operating
lease no such asset is recognised. The Group has exercised its judgement on the appropriate classification of building and equipment leases and has
determined all leases are operating leases.

(Z) Dividend Distribution
Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the company’s shareholders.

(AA) Alignment of Accounting Policies
Following the amalgamation in December 2008 (refer note 30), the Board of Directors reviewed the legacy policies of HortResearch and Crop & Food
Research.
It was identified that previously HortResearch’s online library costs, where access to back issues was enabled, were capitalised and depreciated. The
Board of Directors determined that the former policy of Crop & Food Research should be adopted for the newly merged Company, whereby library costs
related to access of online journals and databases are expensed as incurred.
This alignment of accounting policy resulted in $1,813,000 being expensed during the year.
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Group
Note

Amortisation
Software, databases and the like
Patents, trademarks and licences
   Development expenditure
Total amortisation of intangible assets

2008

2009

2008

$000

$000

$000

$000

Group

8. Taxation

4. Operating Profit / (Loss) before Taxation
After charging
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees for financial statement audit
Fees for other services
Bad debts written off
Change in provision for doubtful debts
Directors fees
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans
Unrealised foreign exchange (gains) / losses

5. Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation
   Buildings and improvements
Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles
Total depreciation on property, plant and equipment

Parent

2009

185
6
81
310
896
64

74
5
267
177
-

171
6
81
310
885
64

62
5
267
177
-

(16)

1,040
4,333
167
5,540

279
2,466
84
2,829

1,040
4,094
159
5,293

279
2,229
79
2,587

(17)

219
111
165
495

94
86
165
345

220
111
331

94
86
180

Note

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Prima facie taxation @ 30% (June 08: 33%)
Plus/(less) taxation effect:
Non-deductible expenditure
      Prior period adjustment
Imputation credits on dividends received
Effect of change in tax rate transferred to tax expense
Prior year overprovision
      Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions
      Difference in effective tax rate of equity accounted investments
Utilisation of tax losses
Tax losses not carried forward
Impairment of tax loss carried forward

The taxation charge is represented by:
Current taxation
      Deferred tax benefit

(21)

Parent

2009

2008

2009

2008

$000

$000

$000

$000

(3,377)
(1,013)

(662)
(218)

(2,146)
(644)

(3,317)
(1,095)

202
408
(4)
(8)
(2)

210
30
7
2
19

364
400
(4)
(8)
-

1,600
16
-

541
-

484
106

(451)
-

(34)
-

124

640

(343)

487

48
76

438
202

34
(377)

431
56

124

640

(343)

487

The Company is not required to maintain an Imputation Credit Account pursuant to section ME1(2)(g) of the Income Tax Act 2004.
6. Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses
Materials and equipment
Research contracts
Rental and operating lease costs
Travel
Other general operating costs
Total general operating expenses

7. Net Finance Costs
Interest income on bank deposits
Dividends received
Finance income
Interest expense on bank borrowings
Interest swap break costs
Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments
Finance expense
Total net finance costs
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6,996
6,539
1,174
4,044
14,884
33,637

4,253
5,216
1,000
2,424
6,464
19,357

6,075
6,395
1,078
3,898
15,295
32,741

3,341
5,102
915
2,348
6,662
18,368

405
6
411

107
107

405
6
411

96
81
177

(601)
(475)
(1,076)

(487)
(105)
(592)

(601)
(475)
(1,076)

(487)
(105)
(592)

(665)

(485)

(665)

(415)

9. Cash and Short-term Deposits
Cash on hand and at bank
Short-term deposits

1,631
7,495

646
860

1,308
7,495

499
860

9,126

1,506

8,803

1,359

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value. The weighted average
effective interest rate for term deposits is 2.6%.
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Group
Note

10. Receivables and Prepayments
Trade receivables
Related party debtors
Provision for impairment

(26)

Accrued income
Prepayments and other receivables

Parent

Group

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

12,860
145
(100)
12,905

5,020
5,020

12,831
145
(100)
12,876

5,076
5,076

4,247
1,353

1,176
945

4,247
1,328

1,551
891

18,505

7,141

18,451

7,518

Not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due > 91 days
Total

12,261
262
60
102
175
12,860

(60)
(5)
(35)
(100)

Net

Gross

12,201
262
60
97
140
12,760

30 June 2008
Impairment

4,422
338
130
50
80
5,020

-

Gross
Not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due > 91 days
Total

12,229
262
60
102
178
12,831

(60)
(5)
(35)
(100)

Net

Gross

12,169
262
60
97
143
12,731

30 June 2008
Impairment

4,478
338
130
50
80
5,076

-

Group
2009
$000

2009

$000

8,254

18,680

8,074

Accounts payable and accruals are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, therefore the carrying value of
accounts payable and accruals approximates their fair value.

Total employee entitlements

9,441

3,118

9,318

3,061

4,422
338
130
50
80
5,020

Comprising:
Current
Non-current

8,241
1,200

2,390
728

8,142
1,176

2,333
728

9,441

3,118

9,318

3,061

14. Restructuring Provision
Opening balance 1 July
Additional provisions made
Amounts utilised

3,770
(2,530)

119
(119)

3,770
(2,530)

119
(119)

Closing balance at 30 June

1,240

-

1,240

-

Net
4,478
338
130
50
80
5,076

$000

Balance at 1 July
Additional provisions made during the year
Receivables written-off during the year

(100)
-

-

(100)
-

-

Balance at end of year

(100)

-

(100)

-

11. Inventories
Manufactured stock *
Agricultural stock
Other

18,677

Net

2008

$000

5,669
665
1,740

1,625
681
274
481

Parent
2008

10,290
2,251
6,139

4,292
930
1,913
2,183

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for the Group’s pool of debtors. Expected losses
have been determined based on an analysis of the Group’s losses in previous periods, and review of specific debtors.
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

5,903
612
1,739

1,662
681
274
501

Parent
30 June 2009
Impairment

10,335
2,203
6,139

4,356
955
1,913
2,217

Group
Gross

12. Accounts Payable and Accruals
Trade payables
Other payables
Revenue in advance

13. Employee Entitlements
Annual leave
Service leave
Retirement leave
Other leave and accruals

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. The carrying amount of receivables that would otherwise be past due, but
not impaired, whose terms have been renegotiated is $559,000 (June 2008 $598,000). As at 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008, all overdue receivables
have been assessed for impairment and appropriate provisions applied, as detailed below:

30 June 2009
Impairment

Parent

2009

1,860
317
329

1,638
169
161

316
329

169
160

2,506

1,968

645

329

1,699

1,324

-

-

The Group’s Board approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan related to the amalgamation which commenced 1 December 2008.
The restructuring plan and associated payments are expected to be completed by December 2009. The provision has been made for the
obligations of expected restructuring costs for employee termination benefits and other restructuring costs.
Severence payments of $1,372,000 were paid to 26 employees during the year.

15. Non-Current Liabilities
Unsecured bank facility
Canterbury Economic Development Fund
Advance from Danisco

83

6,000
200
-

-

6,000
-

Less current portion of term debt
Total loans

83

200
6,000

-

6,000

Mortgage liability *

321

-

321

-

Less current portion of mortgage liability
Total mortgage

14
307

-

14
307

-

* Secured by way of a mortgage over property at Kerikeri. Interest rate currently 3.99% (2008 nill). The term is for a period of no greater than 33 years
commencing on 1 January 2000. The current portion of the mortgage is included within current liabilities. The carrying amount of the mortgage liability
approximates its fair value.
The loan from the Canterbury Economic Development Fund was repaid on 30 November 2008. The unsecured bank facility was repaid on 30 June 2009.

Inventories stated at net realisable value

* The cost to produce manufactured stock during 2009 and 2008 exceeded net realisable value, thus inventory was not valued at cost
but at net realisable value.
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment

17. Intangible Assets

Group

Cost
Opening balance 1 July 07
Additions
Disposals
Impairment
Transfers
Foreign exchange movement
Closing balance 30 June 08

Parent
Motor
Vehicles

Total

Land

$000

$000

$000

Group

Land

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

$000

$000

$000

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

2,012
-

12,044
319
(2)
(147)
(505)
-

31,606
2,239
(343)
516
5

1,578
(8)
7

47,240
2,558
(353)
(147)
11
12

2,012
-

12,044
319
(2)
(147)
(505)
-

29,336
2,120
(347)
516
-

1,531
(7)
-

44,923
2,439
(356)
(147)
11
-

2,012

11,709

34,023

1,577

49,321

2,012

11,709

31,625

1,524

46,870

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 1 July 07
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Foreign exchange movement

-

2,704
279
(81)
-

17,054
2,466
(344)
83
4

986
84
(8)
4

20,744
2,829
(352)
2
8

-

2,704
279
(81)
-

16,578
2,229
(348)
83
-

962
79
(8)
-

20,244
2,587
(356)
2
-

Closing balance 30 June 08

-

2,902

19,263

1,066

23,231

-

2,902

18,542

1,033

22,477

Net book value

2,012

8,807

14,760

511

26,090

2,012

8,807

13,083

491

Software,
Patents, Development
Databases Trademarks Expenditure

Cost
Opening balance 1 July 07
Additions
Disposals
Transfers

$000

$000

Parent
Goodwill

Total

$000

$000

$000

Software,
Patents, Development
Databases Trademarks Expenditure

$000

$000

495
104
(45)
-

2,026
-

19
-

2,979
325
(45)
(12)

439
221
(12)

495
104
(45)
-

-

-

934
325
(45)
(12)

Closing balance 30 June 08

648

554

2,026

19

3,247

648

554

-

-

1,202

Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance 1 July 07
Additions
Disposals
Impairment
Transfers

137
94
(2)

73
86
(45)
-

331
165
-

19
-

541
345
(45)
19
(2)

137
94
(2)

73
86
(45)
-

-

-

210
180
(45)
(2)

Closing balance 30 June 08

229

114

496

19

858

229

114

-

-

343

Net book value

419

440

1,530

-

2,389

419

440

-

-

859

Software,
Patents, Development
Databases Trademarks Expenditure

Parent

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

Total

Land

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

2,012
6,316
-

11,709
31,954
1,460
(254)
44
-

34,023
43,408
5,599
(602)
(36)
(44)
(1)

1,577
2,719
312
(182)
(1)

49,321
84,397
7,371
(784)
(290)
(2)

2,012
6,316
-

11,709
31,954
1,460
(254)
44
-

31,625
43,397
5,596
(602)
(37)
(44)
-

1,524
2,719
263
(132)
-

46,870
84,386
7,319
(734)
(291)
-

8,328

44,913

82,347

4,425

140,013

8,328

44,913

79,935

4,374

137,550

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 1 July 08
Additions from amalgamation
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Foreign exchange movement

-

2,902
14,580
1,040
(103)
4
-

19,263
29,725
4,333
(620)
(4)
-

1,066
1,922
167
(155)
(1)

23,231
46,227
5,540
(878)
(1)

-

2,902
14,580
1,040
(103)
4
-

18,542
29,717
4,094
(620)
(4)
-

1,033
1,922
159
(122)
-

22,477
46,219
5,293
(845)
-

Closing balance 30 June 09

-

18,423

52,697

2,999

74,119

-

18,423

51,729

2,992

73,144

8,328

26,490

29,650

1,426

65,894

8,328

26,490

28,206

1,382

64,406

Closing balance 30 June 09

Net book value

$000

24,393

Land

Cost
Opening balance 1 July 08
Additions from amalgamation
Additions
Disposals
Impairment
Transfers
Foreign exchange movement

Total

$000

439
221
(12)

Group
Group

Goodwill

$000

Cost
Opening balance 1 July 08
Additions from amalgamation
Additions
Disposals
Impairment

$000

$000

Parent
Software,
Patents, Development
Databases Trademarks Expenditure

Goodwill

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Goodwill

Total

$000

$000

$000

648
2,209
784
(457)
-

554
(87)

2,026
-

19
-

3,247
2,209
784
(457)
(87)

648
2,209
784
(457)
-

554
(87)

-

-

1,202
2,209
784
(457)
(87)

Closing balance 30 June 09

3,184

467

2,026

19

5,696

3,184

467

-

-

3,651

Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance 1 July 08
Additions from amalgamation
Additions
Disposals

229
2,003
219
(306)

114
111
-

496
165
-

19
-

858
2,003
495
(306)

229
2,003
220
(307)

114
111
-

-

-

343
2,003
331
(307)

Closing balance 30 June 09

2,145

225

661

19

3,050

2,145

225

-

-

2,370

Net book value

1,039

242

1,365

-

2,646

1,039

242

-

-

1,281

The cash generating unit for the impairment testing of the goodwill and the development expenditure is GraceLinc Limited. Although GraceLinc Limited
is not currently generating positive cash flows, management expects that future positive cash flows will exceed the carrying values. For the cash flow
assumptions refer note 3 (X) and note 18.

Some land holdings are restricted assets to the extent that they are potentially subject to Maori land claims.
There are no restrictions over the title of the remaining Group’s property, plant and equipment, nor is any property, plant or equipment pledged as
security for liabilities except as disclosed in note 15.
The total amount of property, plant and equipment in the course of construction is $1,980,000. TSE Valuations completed an independent valuation
exercise to ascertain the fair value of our largest site, Mt Albert. The fair value of Mt Albert land and buildings as at 18 October 2007 was $36,500,000.
The net book value of Mt Albert land and buildings at 30 June 2009 was $7,586,000.
The Company holds numerous germplasm collections of horticultural material for research purposes. Due to the nature of the collections their value
can not be measured reliably for financial purposes, however they have a fundamental importance to the Company’s research.
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18. Investments - Subsidiaries

GraceLinc Limited
HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited
HortResearch (USA) Corporation
Crop & Food Research Australia Pty Limited
Truffle Investment New Zealand Ltd (TRINZ)
New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research International Limited
HortResearch Limited
Hort & Research Limited
Pernin Limited
New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research Rosehip Limited

Principal Activity

Balance
Date

Interest
Held %

Commercialising IP
Marketing and consultancy services in Australia
Marketing and consultancy services in the USA
Australian marketing
Commercialising IP
Non trading
Non trading
Non trading
Non trading
Non trading

30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June

83.4
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Crop & Food Research Australia Pty Limited and HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited are incorporated in Australia. HortResearch (USA) Corporation
is incorporated in the USA. All other subsidiaries are incorporated in New Zealand. The accounts of Crop & Food Research Australia Pty Limited,
HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited and HortResearch (USA) Corporation have not been audited.
Valuation of GraceLinc Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009
Using the cashflow model referred to in note 3 (X), an impairment against the investment held in GraceLinc for potential future unrecoverability was
established.

19. Investments - Associates
The Group’s share of profit /(loss) in its associated companies for the year was $33,000 (2008 $8,000).

30 June 2009
Jukebox NZ Limited
Biopolymer Network Limited
Rhindo Limited
HRZ Wheats Pty Limited*

Principal Activity

Interest
Held

Total
Assets

Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising seed

50.0%
33.3%
25.0%
12.5%

78
848
9
802

1
545
15

3,303
22

(1)
81
(1,657)

The ability of the Company to continue to operate in the immediate future is contingent upon:
- the continued financial support of the Company’s Parent Company; and
- the provision of working capital from an improvement in trading performance.
The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited has confirmed that it is its intention to provide adequate support to the Company to ensure that it
can meet its debts as they fall due.
However, if the Company was unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments may have to be made to the book value of assets in the Balance Sheet to
reflect their likely realisable value. In addition the Company may have to provide for further liabilities that might arise as a consequence of ceasing operational
existence, and fixed assets would need to be reclassified as current assets.”
If GraceLinc Limited was unable to continue as a going concern the Parent Company investment may need to be further impaired.
In the consolidated financial statements the net assets of GraceLinc of $4,951,000 (after eliminating the Parent Company advance) are included. Included
in this is plant & equipment $1,437,000, deferred tax asset $295,000 and capitalised development expenditure of $1,365,000.
If GraceLinc Limited was unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments may have to be made to the book value of assets in the Balance Sheet to
reflect their likely realisable value.

Revenue

Profit/(Loss)

Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising seed

50.0%
50.0%
33.3%
25.0%
12.5%

955
80
806
10
41

502
2
571
1
12

88
3,397
12

181
(1)
73
(1)
(1,139)

30 June 2008
AQUI-S New Zealand Limited
Jukebox NZ Limited
Biopolymer Network Limited
Rhindo Limited
HRZ Wheats Pty Limited*

* HRZ Wheats Pty Limited: Currently the Group has two of seven directors on the board and is one of three shareholders. The Parent is contracted to
undertake research work for the company in its development of intellectual property. Thus management considers it has significant influence over the
company to fulfil the requirements of associate company control.
The Parent expenses capital contributions to HRZ Wheats Pty Limited during the associates research and development phase.
The carrying value represents the Group’s share of net assets in the associate.

Group

Included in the investments in subsidiaries above is $3,532,000 after impairment of $750,000 in respect of the GraceLinc Limited. The financial
statements of GraceLinc Limited have been prepared on a going-concern basis. However, the following statements are included within the notes to the
financial statements of GraceLinc Limited.
“The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis. The ability of the Company to continue in operation is dependent primarily upon the
ability to raise capital by way of issuing new shares and generating positive cash flows from operations in the immediate future. The Directors believe that
sufficient funding will be available in the future from additional capital or from positive cash flows from operating activities.

Total
Liabilities

AQUI-S New Zealand Limited
Jukebox NZ Limited
Biopolymer Network Limited
Rhindo Limited
HRZ Wheats Pty Limited
Advances to associated companies
AQUI-S New Zealand Limited
Total associate investments

Parent

2009

2008

2009

2008

$000

$000

$000

$000

39
106
2
7
154

150
39
78
2
8
277

40
15
3
178
236

150
40
15
3
178
386

-

231

-

231

154

508

236

617

25
216
(79)
162

25
216
(86)
155

216
(86)
130

216
(86)
130

191
300
22
8
19
540

74
25
7
106

191
300
22
8
19
540

74
25
7
106

702

261

670

236

AQUI-S New Zealand Limited was sold during the year for $400,000.

20. Investments - Other
a) Joint Ventures
Truffiere (50%)
Rosehip Orchards New Zealand Limited JV (10%)
Less share of Rosehip Orchards New Zealand Limited JV expenses
b) Other
New Zealand Synchrotron Group Limited
Gourmet Blueberries Limited
Tairawhiti Pharmaceuticals Limited
Fruitpackers (HB) Co-op Limited
Ravensdown Fertiliser Co-op Limited
Others at cost

Total other investments

Except for Ravensdown Fertiliser Co-op Limited, none of the other investments are traded in an active market, therefore investments are stated at cost rather
than fair value.
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Group

21. Deferred Tax Asset

Property, plant
equipment
Group
Balance at 1 July 2007
Charged to profit and loss
Charged to equity
Balance at 30 June 2008
Additions from amalgamation
Charged to profit and loss
Charged to equity
Balance at 30 June 2009

$000

Investments- Derivative financial Employee
associates
instruments
entitlements
$000

$000

Other
provisions

Tax
losses

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

(892)
(60)
(952)

(37)
18
(19)

(58)
35
(23)

836
(23)
813

609
(48)
561

943
(124)
819

1,401
(202)
1,199

1,524
(126)
-

(8)
-

23
-

1,212
270
-

44
216
-

(451)
-

2,780
(76)
-

446

(27)

-

2,295

821

368

3,903

Closing balance at 30 June

a) Capital commitments
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

b) Operating commitments (excluding leases)

Parent

c) Operating lease commitments
Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

Additions from amalgamation
Charged to profit and loss
Charged to equity
Balance at 30 June 2009

(889)
(63)
(952)

(37)
37
-

(58)
35
(23)

830
(17)
813

609
(48)
561

-

455
(56)
399

1,524
(126)
-

-

23
-

1,212
270
-

47
210
-

-

2,783
377
-

446

-

-

2,295

818

-

3,559

Group
22. Share Capital & Reserves
Share capital
Opening balance
Issue of ordinary shares
Closing balance at 30 June
Retained earnings
Opening balance
Operating profit/(loss) after taxation
Addition through amalgamation
Gain on sale of shares in subsidiary
Dividends payable to shareholder

Parent
2008

2009

2008

$000

$000

$000

$000

17,436
-

16,036
1,400

17,436
-

16,036
1,400

17,436

17,436

17,436

17,436

7,135
(1,301)
(124)

6,035
(1,803)
54,077
(1,606)

9,963
(3,804)
(124)

55,414

5,710

56,703

6,035

Foreign currency translation
Opening balance
Addition through amalgamation
Foreign currency translation difference for foreign operations

(36)
6
(11)

(51)
15

-

-

Closing balance at 30 June

(41)

(36)

-

-

Closing balance at 30 June

Ordinary shares (000’s)
On issue opening balance
Issued for cash
On issue at closing balance 30 June

17,436
17,436

16,036
1,400
17,436

17,436
17,436

2009

2008

$000

$000

$000

$000

52
(52)
(3)

-

52
(52)
(3)

-

(3)

-

(3)

-

d) Operating lease income
Lease income under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

2,436
2,436

566
566

2,436
2,436

566
566

266

-

266

-

889
1,369
2,485
4,743

581
842
15
1,438

889
1,369
2,485
4,743

501
842
15
1,358

617
1,087
241
1,945

384
669
1,053

617
1,087
241
1,945

384
669
1,053

The Group leases premises and plant and equipment. Operating leases held over properties give the Group the right to renew the lease subject to a
redetermination of the lease rental by the lessor. There are no renewal options or options to purchase in respect of plant and equipment held under
operating leases.

2009

5,710
(3,294)
54,201
403
(1,606)

(30)

2008

24. Commitments
The following amounts have been committed to by the Group or Parent, but are not recognised in the financial statements:

Management considers that the future profitability of the Parent and subsidiaries will be such that the tax losses carried forward will be utilised within 5 years.

Balance at 1 July 2007
Charged to profit and loss
Charged to equity
Balance at 30 June 2008

46

23. Cash Flow Hedge Reserve
Opening balance at 1 July
Addition through amalgamation
Transferred to cost of sales
Revaluations

Parent

2009

16,036
1,400
17,436

All issued shares are fully paid and have no par value.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
Dividends paid to shareholders represented $0.092 per share (2008 $0.007)

The Group rents premises. Operating leasees have the rights to renew the lease subject to a redetermination of the lease rental.

25. Reconciliation of Operating Profit/(Loss) After Tax
with Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Operating profit/(loss) after tax
Net profit/(loss) attributable to minority interest
Associated entities (profit)/loss
Add/(less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation
Movement in foreign exchange
Non-cash movements in investments
Other non-cash items
Library asset policy change
Impairment of assets
Decrease/(increase) in future tax benefit
Decrease/(increase) in derivative financial instruments
(Decrease)/increase in employee entitlement
Add/(less) items classified as investing activities:
(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Movements in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in receivables and prepayments
Decrease/(increase) in inventory
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and accruals
Increase/(decrease) in restructuring provision
Increase/(decrease) in taxation payable
Net trading assets acquired through amalgamation

Net cash flow from operating activities

(3,294)
(207)
(33)
(3,534)

(1,302)
(8)
(1,310)

(1,803)
(1,803)

(3,804)
(3,804)

6,035
(2)
266
354
1,813
233
(2,704)
78
6,323
12,396

3,177
(6)
639
202
96
8
4,116

5,624
1,015
358
1,813
233
(3,160)
78
6,257
12,218

2,767
5,004
57
96
8
7,932

(32)

138

(41)

138

(11,560)
(538)
9,434
1,240
(30)
1,257
(197)

(864)
(1,086)
2,284
399
733

(12,763)
(316)
10,105
1,240
(19)
1,182
(571)

(966)
9
2,061
389
1,493

8,633

3,677

9,803

5,759
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26. Related Party Transactions

27. Financial Instruments

The Company is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of the Company in addition to being a major source of revenue.
The Company enters into transactions with government departments, state-owned enterprises and other Crown entities. Those transactions that occur within
a normal customer / supplier relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the Company would
have adopted if dealing with that entity at arm’s length in the same circumstances have not been disclosed as related party transactions.
The Company is the ultimate parent of the Group and controls the following subsidiaries and associates: HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited, HortResearch
(USA) Corporation, GraceLinc Limited, Truffle Investment New Zealand Limited, Crop & Food Research Australia Pty Limited, New Zealand Institute for Crop &
Food Research International Limited, Jukebox NZ Limited, Biopolymer Network Limited, Rhindo Limited and HRZ Wheats Pty Limited.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group has a series of
policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments. These policies do not
allow any transactions that are speculative in nature.

All members of the Group are considered to be related parties.

Group
a) Related party transactions with subsidiaries:

Parent

2009

2008

2009

2008

$000

$000

$000

$000

-

-

189
71

-

HortResearch (USA) Corporation
Recharge of expenses to the Company
Accounts receivable balance

-

-

187
72

-

GraceLinc Limited
Technical support and contract development
Accounts receivable balance

-

-

177
90

310
35

Truffle Investment New Zealand Limited
Consultancy services and sale of trees
Accounts receivable balance

-

-

77

64
110

Crop & Food Research Australia Pty Limited
Marketing services

-

-

337

309

b) Related party transactions with associates:

Seafood Innovation Limited
Scientific services (provided to)
Accounts receivable balance
Scientific services (received from)
Accounts payable balance
HRZ Wheats Pty Limited
Scientific services

Fair value interest rate risk
The Group has a policy of ensuring that the Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings is minimised. Interest rate swaps are entered
into to achieve an appropriate level of exposure to meet the Group’s policy. Any movement in the interest rate would impact the profit via the interest cost
of the overdraft and the movement in the fair value of the interest rate swap derivative.
There were no interest rate swaps as at 30 June 2009.
At 30 June 2009 the Group’s exposure to the fair value interest rate risk was limited to its bank deposits which are held at fixed rates of interest.

HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited
Recharge of expenses to the Company
Accounts receivable balance

Biopolymer Network Limited
Scientific services
Accounts receivable balance

Market risk

Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
Investments at variable interest rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s investment policy requires a spread of investment
maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate movements. The Group currently has no variable interest rate investments.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group purchases goods and services overseas which require it to enter into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The Group also holds small
balances of AUD, EUR and USD at call in order to settle transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to
currency risk arises.
It is the Group’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by entering into foreign exchange forward
contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk exposure. All of the forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than one year at the balance sheet date.
Sensitivity analysis
As at 30 June 2009, if the 90 day bank bill rate had been 25 basis points higher or lower, with all other variables held constant, the loss for the year
would have been $13,000 (June 2008: $49,000) higher or lower. This movement is attributable to increased or decreased interest received on short-term
deposits.
Other market risk
The Group is not exposed substantial to other market price risk rising from financial instruments.

513
49

538
44

513
49

538
44

1,049
128
256
81

1,417
160
559
39

1,049
128
256
81

1,417
160
559
39

278

229

278

229

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to the Group, causing the Group to incur a loss.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the Group invests surplus cash with registered banks. The Group’s investment policy limits the
amount of credit exposure to any one institution.
The Group’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the total carrying amount of cash and short-term
deposits (note 9), net debtors (note 10) and derivative financial assets. There is no collateral held as security against these financial instruments,
including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.
Management has a credit policy in place under which each new customer is individually analysed for credit worthiness and assigned a credit limit before
the standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Where available the Group reviews external ratings and references are obtained.
Credit limits are reviewed on a regular basis.
Net receivables includes one customer who represents 22% of the total receivables at balance date. The Group is not exposed to any other
concentrations of credit risk as surplus cash is only invested with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor’s credit ratings.

c) Related party transaction other than described above:
All related party transactions have been entered into on an arms length basis.
The company and the Group contracted with parties associated with certain directors during the year. These are as detailed below.
These transactions were all at normal commercial rates.
Parties associated with Directors

Nature of the transaction

RJ Hill Laboratories Limited
Seeka Kiwifruit Industries Limited

Services
Services

117
8

-

117
8

-

2,125
475
2,600

1,744
1,744

2,125
475
2,600

1,457
1,457

d) Key management personnel compensation:
Salaries and other short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Total

Key management personnel include the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive and the other members of the senior executive team.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk
management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to
close out market positions. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available. It is the Group’s policy to provide
credit and liquidity enhancement only to wholly owned subsidiaries.

28. Categories of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the NZ IAS 39 categories are as follows:

for the year ended 30 June 2009

for the year ended 30 June 2009

The table below analyses the Group’s derivative financial instruments and other financial liabilities that will be settled on a gross basis into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

Carrying
amount
Unsecured loan
Unsecured bank facilities
Unsecured bank facilities - interest
Trade and other payables

12,538
12,538

Contractual
cash flow

Group 2009
Up to
12 months

12,538
12,538

12,538
12,538

1-2 years

3 years
-

-

Group

Loans and receivables
Cash and short-term deposits
Trade and other receivables
Total loans and receivables

2008

2009

2008

Note

$000

$000

$000

$000

(9)
(10)

9,126
17,152
26,278

1,506
6,196
7,702

8,803
17,123
25,926

1,359
6,627
7,986

-

78

-

78

702

261

670

236

26,980

8,041

26,596

8,300

(15)

12,538
321

6,515
200
-

12,541
321

6,334
-

(15)

-

6,000

-

6,000

12,859

12,715

12,862

12,334

Fair value through the income statement
Derivative financial instruments
Available for sale
Investments - other

(20)

Total financial assets
Forward exchange contracts
Outflow

3

34

34

-

-

Group 2008
Unsecured loan
Unsecured bank facilities
Unsecured bank facilities - interest
Trade and other payables

Forward exchange contracts
Outflow

200
6,000
6,515
12,715

-

200
6,000
1,560
6,515
14,275

-

200
468
6,515
7,183

-

936
936

6,000
156
6,156

-

-

-

-

Parent 2009
Unsecured bank facilities
Unsecured bank facilities - interest
Trade and other payables

Forward exchange contracts
Outflow

12,541
12,541

12,541
12,541

12,541
12,541

Forward exchange contracts
Outflow
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Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Accounts payable and accruals
Current loans and borrowings
Mortgage liability
Loan
Total financial liabilities

(12)

						
						
29. Capital Management
The Company’s capital is its equity, which comprises share capital and accumulated funds. Equity is represented by net assets.
The Company is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992, which imposes
restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities and the use of derivatives.
The Company manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and general financial dealings to ensure
the Company effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, whilst remaining a going concern.
The Group’s and Parent’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s and Parent’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group
and Parent recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position.
30. Amalgamation

3

34

34

-

-

Parent 2008
Unsecured bank facilities
Unsecured bank facilities - interest
Trade and other payables

Parent

2009

6,000
6,334
12,334

6,000
1,560
6,334
13,894

468
6,334
6,802

936
936

6,000
156
6,156

-

-

-

-

-

On the 1st December 2008, under Part XIII of the Companies Act 1993, the New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research Limited (Crop & Food
Research) and The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Limited (HortResearch) amalgamated to form The New Zealand Institute
for Plant & Food Research Limited (Plant & Food Research). The HortResearch legal entity was amalgamated into the Crop & Food Research legal entity
and Crop & Food Research renamed as The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited.
The 2009 actual results therefore represent 7 months trading from Plant & Food Research and 5 months trading from Crop & Food Research.
The 2008 comparatives represent 12 months trading for Crop & Food Research only.
The amalgamation of Crop & Food Research and HortResearch has been accounted for as a business combination involving entities under common
control, as Crop & Food Research and HortResearch were Crown Institutes, with the same shareholding ministers.
The assets and liabilities of HortResearch, being the non-continuing company, have been recognised at the carrying amounts as recognised previously in
the audited closing 30 November 2008 balance sheet of HortResearch.
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for the year ended 30 June 2009

Group
31. minority interest

30. Amalgamation (continued)
Amalgamation of Crop & Food Research and HortResearch balance sheets as at 1 December 2008 is as follows:

Group
HortResearch Crop & Food Plant & Food
Note
Current assets
Cash and short-term deposits
Receivables and prepayments
Inventories
Taxation receivable
Total current assets

$000

$000

$000

$000

Share of net assets acquired
Share of operating loss

2008

$000

$000

634
(207)
427

-

$000
During the year 16.6% of the shares in GraceLinc Limited were sold to a third party.

12,852
10,182
170
32
23,236

390
8,711
2,186
11,287

13,242
18,893
2,356
32
34,523

12,799
10,177
170
16
23,162

181
9,722
298
10,201

12,980
19,899
468
16
33,363

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals
Employee entitlements - current
Restructuring provision
Current portion mortgage
Taxation payable
Short term loan
Total current liabilities

6,905
4,497
89
14
11,505

8,256
2,993
1,460
12,709

15,161
7,490
89
14
1,460
24,214

6,982
4,477
89
14
11,562

7,852
2,487
436
1,460
12,235

14,834
6,964
89
14
436
1,460
23,797

Working capital

11,731

(1,422)

10,309

11,600

(2,034)

9,566

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Library collections
Intangible assets
Investments
Deferred tax asset
Derivative financial instruments
Total non-current assets

38,170
1,677
206
432
2,780
43,265

25,882
2,228
887
773
78
29,848

64,052
1,677
2,434
1,319
3,553
78
73,113

38,168
1,677
206
432
2,783
43,266

24,249
766
6,246
399
78
31,738

62,417
1,677
972
6,678
3,182
78
75,004

416
321
737

288
6,000
6,288

704
321
6,000
7,025

416
321
737

288
6,000
6,288

704
321
6,000
7,025

NET ASSETS

54,259

22,138

76,397

54,129

23,416

77,545

Represented by:
Equity
Share capital
Retained earnings
Foreign currency translation reserve
Cash flow hedge reserve

54,201
6
52

17,436
4,738
(36)
-

17,436
58,939
(30)
52

54,077
52

17,436
5,980
-

17,436
60,057
52

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

54,259

22,138

76,397

54,129

23,416

77,545

Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements - non current
Mortgage
Loans
Total non-current liabilities

52

$000

Parent
HortResearch Crop & Food Plant & Food

2009

32. Contingencies
Contingent Liabilities
There were no contingent liabilities known to exist at balance date (June 2008 $0).
Contingent Assets
There were no contingent assets known to exist at balance date (June 2008 $0).

33. Other Significant Items			
On 2 July 2008 HortResearch was served as a co-defendant in a lawsuit filed in the Central District Court of California. HortResearch was successful
in the motion for summary judgement hearing in May 2009, with the ruling in HortResearch's favour and the case dismissed. The plaintiffs appealed
the decision and an appeal hearing was held in July 2009. Judgement was again in our favour. The plaintiffs have since filed a further appeal to the US
9th Circuit Court of Appeals. This appeal is expected to be heard early in 2010.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

for the year ended 30 June 2009

for the year ended 30 June 2009

2009
Actual

2008
*SCI
Target

Actual

*SCI
Target
In the financial year ended 30 June 2009, the Board and management of The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited were responsible for:

Financial Targets
Revenue ($000) excluding interest and capital gains
Earnings before interest and tax ($M)
EBIT margin (%)
Return on shareholders’ funds (%)
Return on total assets (%)
Equity ratio (%)
Quick ratio (excluding employee entitlement)
Gearing percentage
Interest cover (times)

92.3
1.0
1.1
(3.9)
1.4
66.6
1.4
0.5
1.7

51.5
1.7
3.4
5.1
4.4
57.0
1.0
22.8
3.0

48.1
0.1
0.2
(5.6)
0.2
56.7
1.0
20.6
0.1

51.9
2.6
5.0
4.9
6.0
55.7
1.0
29.2
5.1

Research Application Metrics**
Scientific discovery
Peer reviewed articles
Keynote and plenary presentations
Requests for information from databases and collection

306
28
136

135
7
12

130
29
71

130
6
11

Partnerships
Commissioned reports to users
Presentations on technical information

568
208

220
120

275
184

210
110

105

7

14

6

13
10
8
5
1

3
3
14
4
1

1
1
22
2
-

2
2
12
4
2

594
83
163
840

243
31
73
347

228
34
63
325

258
28
63
349

Value
New and improved processes
Patents granted
New Zealand
Overseas
Licensing agreements entered into
Joint ventures or formal associations
Spin off companies formed
Our people
Staff composition (FTE’s)
Research team staff
Research support staff
Other
Total

→ the preparation of the financial statements and the judgements used therein.
→ establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial and
non-financial performance reporting.
In the opinion of the Board and management of The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited, these financial statements fairly reflect
the financial position and operations of The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Jim McLean, Chairman
27 August 2009

Janie Elrick, Director
27 August 2009

Peter Landon-Lane, Chief Executive Officer	Michael James, Chief Financial Officer
27 August 2009
27 August 2009

* SCI = Statement of Corporate Intent.
2009 SCI targets and 2008 actuals are for Crop & Food Research only, prior to amalgamation.
** 2009 actuals are 12 month results for both Crop & Food Research and HortResearch.
EBIT is defined by the Crown Company Monitoring & Advisory Unit as earnings before interest, taxation, gains/(losses) on disposal of fixed assets and
restructuring costs.
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Jim McLean

Auckland
120 Mt Albert Road
Sandringham
Auckland 1025
Private Bag 92169
Auckland 1142
Tel 09 925 7000
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Rodney Wong
Deputy Chairman

Paddy Boyle
Janie Elrick
Anna Koltunow
Kevin Marshall
Jim Scotland
Chief Executive officer
Peter Landon-Lane
Senior Management Team
Dr Bruce Campbell
Chief Operating Officer

Dr Ian Ferguson, FRSNZ
Chief Scientist

Michael James
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David Hughes
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Craig Jensen
General Manager Human Resources

Dr Julian Lee
General Manager Strategic Projects

Registered Office
120 Mt Albert Road
Sandringham
Auckland 1025
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Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers on behalf of the
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Bankers

Clyde
990 Earnscleugh Road
RD 1, Alexandra 9391
Tel 03 904 7300
Fax 03 904 7301
Dunedin
Dept of Chemistry
University of Otago
Box 56
Dunedin 9054
Tel 03 479 8354
Fax 03 479 8543

Kerikeri
Keri Downs Road
RD1, Kerikeri 0294
PO Box 23
Kerikeri 0245
Tel 09 901 7360
Fax 09 901 7361
Lincoln
Gerald St
Lincoln 7608
Private Bag 4704
Christchurch 8140
Tel 03 325 6400
Fax 03 325 2074
Marlborough
85 Budge Street
Blenheim 7201
PO Box 845
Blenheim 7240
Tel 03 984 4310
Fax 03 984 4311

Gore
Te Tipua Road
Gore 9774
Box 273
Gore 9740
Tel 03 208 9017
Fax 03 208 9017

Motueka
55 Old Mill Road
RD 3, Motueka 7198
Tel 03 907 3595
Fax 03 907 3596

Hastings
265 Lawn Rd
RD 2, Hastings 4172
PO Box 8285
Havelock North 4157
Tel 06 872 8506
Fax 06 872 8519

Nelson
300 Wakefield Quay
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Private Bag 11600
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Pukekohe
Cronin Rd
RD 1, Pukekohe 2676
Tel 09 237 1600
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East Street
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Private Bag 3123
Hamilton 3240
Tel 07 959 4430
Fax 07 959 4431
Te Puke
412 No 1 Road
RD 2, Te Puke 3182
Tel 07 928 9800
Fax 07 928 9801

INTERNATIONAL
Australia
Birrabee Park
204 Wymah Road
Bowna via Albury
NSW 2642, Australia
Tel +61 2 6020 3221
Fax +61 2 6041 3939
PO Box 116
Avoca Beach
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Tel +61 2 4382 6379
Fax +61 2 4382 6703
USA
430 F Street, Suite F
Davis CA 95616, USA
Tel +1 530 574 5261
Fax +1 530 758 1612

National Bank of New Zealand Ltd
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